ROCHE AS AN EXPERT WITNESS

427.  The common law principles concerning the admissibility of expert evidence
have been adverted to in a number of recent cases. A convenient starting point is the

judgment of TTeydon JA in Makita (Australia) Pty Lid v Sprowles (2001) 52 NSWILR

705. At paragraph [79], His tonour siated:

In National Justice Compania Naviera SA v Prudential Assurance Co_Ltd
(“The Tkarian Reefer ™) [1993] 2 Lioyd's Rep 68 at 81-82 Cresswell J set out a
Tist of duties and responsibilities of expert witnesses in civil cases as follows.
"I Expert evidence presented to the Cowrt should be, and should be
seen to be, the independent product of the expert uninfluenced as to
form or content by the exigencies of litigation
2 An expert witness should provide independeni assistance o the
Court by way of objective unbiased opinion in relation to matters
within his experiise An expert witness in the High Court should
never assume the role of an advocate.
3. An expert witness should state the facts or assumption upon which
his opinion is based He should not omit to consider malerial facis
which could detract from his conclivded opinion.
4. An expert witness should make it clear when a particular question or
issue falls outside his expertise.
5 If an expert’s opinion is not properly researched because he
considers that insufficient data is available, then this must be stated
with an indication that the opinion is no more than a provisional one ..
In cases where an expert witness who has prepared a report could not
assert that the report contained the truth, the whole truth and nothing
but the truth without some qualification, that qualification should be
stated in the report
6. If dafier exchange of reports, an expert witness changes his view on
a material matter having read the other side’s expert’s report or for
any other reason, such change of view should be communicated
(through legal representatives) to the other side without delay and
when appropriate (o the Court
7. Where experi evidence refers lo photographs, plans, calculations,
analyses, measurements, survey reporls ov other similar documents,
these must he provided to the opposite party at the same lime as the
exchange of reporis ... "
While some of these matters have an ethical dimension, taken fogether they
point fo the need for the trier of fact to be fully informed of the reasoning
process deployed in arriving at the expert’s opinions

This implies thai not only must the appropriate information be supplicd, but
that the expert must reveal the whole of the manner in which it was dealt with
in arriving at the formation of the expert’s conclusions

128



428.  I'hc importance of the qualities of objectivity and lack of bias in an expert

were emphasized by Pagone J in Fagenblat v Feingold Partners Pty 1td |2001] VSC

4541 At paragraph [7] and following, His Honour said:

[7]... An expert witness has a special and important vole in judicial
proceedings 1o assist the Court by providing objective and unbiased opinions
about matiers that bear upon the defermination which the Courd is called upon
to make ... The possibility of a witness having a bias in favour of a party
(dircctly or indirectly) is undoubtedly a matier to take into account by a court
when deciding what weight to give to the expert’s evidence, but it is nol a
ground for the Cowrt rejecting evidence that may be of assistance to the Court
in reaching the correct resull. ... The bias, actual, potential or perceived, of
any wilness is undoubledly a factor which the Court must take info account
when deciding the issues between the parties, but the hearing of evidence from
such a witness does not mean that the Court will not be doing justice to the
parties impartially.

[8]... The possibility that a witness of fact or expert opinion may be biased
does not infect the impartiality of the Court. The situation might be otherwise
where the expert is appointed by the Court or where the role or function of the
expert is more than that of a eiver of evidence (whether thatl evidence he in the
form of an opinion, as librarvian of a body of knowledee, or otherwise). In such
a case the role or function of the expert may perhaps come to be incorporated
into that of the decision maker, ...

/9] Experis do have duties to the Court to be independent. Those duties have
some similarity to those owed by counsel conducting a case. ... The product of
the expert should itself he “the independent product of the experl,
uninfluenced as (o form or content by the exigencies of the litigation” The
reason for these duties, however, stem from the need fo ensure thal the
evidence which is before the Court is useful in the sense of being probative
and reliuble. The fuct of partiality goes to those issues rather than (o
admissibility 1t is for the Court to assess the velue of the evidence Ii is
easy to conceive of instances of expert evidence where partiality could have no
conceivable impact upon the reliability of the expert evidence iendered
[emphasis added]

429, In R v Doogan the Full Court recognised the undesirability of an expert being

adversarial, stating at paragraph [117]:

.. Even in the absence of any inferference by counsel in the preparation of
reporis, little weipht may be atiached to the evidence of an expert who has
adopted an adversarial stance, if it is admiited af all: see Hardyv v Your Tabs
Pty Lid (in lig) [2000f NSWCA 150 at [133] and Fox v Percy (2003) 214 CLR
HEat 167-168.
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430.

In Hardy v Your Tabs Pty Lid (in lig) [2000] NSWCA 150 Heydon JA stated

al paragraphs | 133] and [134]:

431.

432.

133 .. The trial judgee rejected it (the expert evidence), affer detailed
argument and in quite extensive reasons for judgment, hecause it was "in
substance, an advocate's final address based on materials which had been pul
hefore him.” The statement "is simply being used to argue the defendants’ case

on causation” . e applicd Clark v Rvan (1960 103 CLR 486.

134 .. But .. (the expert’s) stalement was nol admissible under that Act
(Evidence Act 1995 (NSW). The trial judge's characterisation of it was
correct: it was not really expert opinion evidence, but advocacy.

In Fox v Perey (2003) 214 CLR 118 al 167-168, Callinan J stated:

... the adversarial stance taken by Mr Tindall ... is very much (o be regretied.
It also might have heen basis enough for the rejection of his evidence. What
was said in the tenth edition of Phipson on Evidence and cavlier editions
hefore enactment of the Civil Fvidence Act 1972 (UK), and notwithstanding
the enactment of the Evidence Act 1993 (NSW) remains relevant [166]:

"Value of Ixpert Ividence The testimony of experts is ofien
considered to he of slight value, since they are proverbially,
though perhaps unwittingly, biased in favour of the side which
calls them, as well as over-ready to regard harmless facts as
confirmation of pre-conceived theories, morcover, support o
apposition lo given hypotheses can generally be mudiiplicd at
will [167]"

In Foody v_Horewood (No.2) [2004] VSC 222, Hansen I al paragraphs [10]

and | [8] made the following observations -

433.

[16] It may not be unduly cynical to observe that the evidence of the experts

Ffollowed the pattern, so ofien experienced, of favouring the party on behdlf of

whom the expert was engaged. ..

8] . (The expert’s) evidence suffered from a tendency to be arcumentaiive,
not content (o simply and responsively answer the question and say no more,
but to arpue the matier, and at times to provide commentary. ... but .. (the
expert) clearly saw his role as being io argue a case for Foody. In my view he
took every point he considered possible in order 1o achieve the best result for
Foody. ..

Iinally. mn the criminal context, the Courts have counselled against experts

speculating about alternative factual possibilitics where the cvidence gives no basis
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for preferring one possibility over another — see Jacobs J in Straker v The Queen
(1977) 15 ALR 103 at 114; and Gleeson CJ in HG v ‘The Queen (1999) 197 CLR. 414
al 429 al paragraphs [41] and [42].

434, As Heydon JA stated in Makita, the common law rules have been influential in
causing rules of court concerning expert cvidence to be promulgated. Tn NSW, the
Uniform Civil Procedure Rules (NSW) PL3T r.17, 18 and 23 require as a condition of
admissibility of their reports, that experts be provided with a copy of the Code of

Conduct i Schedule 7 and require them to acknowledge to be bound by the Code.

435, Under the rubric “General Duty to the Court”, v2 ol the Code relevanily

provides:

(1) An expert witness has an overviding duty to assist the court impartially on
matters relevant to the expert’s ared of expertise

(2) An expert witness’s paramount duty is to the court and not to the person
refaining the experf.

(3) An expert witness is not an advocale for a pariy.

436.  Rule3 which relales to the form of expert reports, imposes dutics on experts to
speeify any qualification, the absence of which they believe may lead the repori to be
incomplete or inaccurate — r.3(2); and to state that an opinion is not a concluded
opinion by recason of insufficient research or insufficient data or for any other reasons

—1303).

437, Scction 47(1) of the Act provides that a coroner 1s not bound to observe the
rules of procedure and evidence applicable to proceedings before a court of law. The
common law rules arc rules of evidence. [However, those rules represent the distitled
wisdom and experience ol courts and provide a valuable tool by which to asscss the
rcliability of expert evidence n all proceedings. Accordingly the ACT submits (hat in
the proper excrcise of the fact finding function i coronial proceedings, a coroner will

be guided by a relerence Lo those rules.
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438.  When mcasured by these principles, the ACT submits that Roche’s evidence
was not “... the independent product of the expert uninfluenced as 1o form or content
by the exigencies of litigation”. Likewise, it was not really expert opinion evidence,

but advocacy™; and parts of it were based on inaccurate information.

439, At pp.171 and following ol his report, Roche proffers expert opinion on the
issuc of community awarcness, the warnings eiven to the Canberra community and
their adequacy. He concluded al p.174 that the steps taken were “superficial and
targely inadequaie”. That conclusion in large mecasure appears to be based upon

Roche’s views on the perception of the community to warnings at p.175.

440.  Roche’s experience and qualifications arc sct out at pp.6-12 of the report. Save
for unspecificd “media management and public communication” courses, that
Curriculum Vitac does nol reveal any skill, training or expertise in psychology or any
arca ol fearning associated with the effcctiveness of communications and warnings o
members of a community. Absent such skill, training or expertise, Roche’s opinions
on this subject matier cannot have expert status. Accordingly, the ACT submits that
the Coroner should not make any findings relating 1o the adequacy of community

education and warnings based on Roche’s cvidence.

441, There is reasonable cause to have severe reservations about Roche’s evidence
in its entirety. I'ar from taking the position of a detached and objective expert, he:
¢ showced himself to be partisan;
o arrived al opinions adverse to certain partics without any evidentiary
(oundation:; and
o proffered criticisms of alleged omissions without indicating what preciscly
could have been done and in some cascs, he erred in the evidence which was

given.
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Roche - Prejudament and Partisanship

442, At 17515/6, Roche was asked about an email of 23 November 2003 sent by
him to the police. The subject was "Suggested interview guestions for Andrew
Winter". [t rcads as follows:

Good morning, Thevese  Please find attached some suggpestions for the
interview planned with Andrew Winter In reading his statement, T am of the
view that he probably knew what should have been done and how fo do it with
some semblance of order and structure, but obviously the culture of "ESE runs
the show' prevailed. ...

However, in the future and in the witness box, he could be a good ally for us!

Roche conceded that he “was preparing lists of questions thal the interviewing police
might consider putling to witnesses.” Te did so on the basis that he had formed a view
by that time that “there were deficiencies in the command and control arrangements

during those fires and 'had shared that view with officers of the police”(T7517).

443, The effect of this evidence is that having formed a preliminary view of certain
deficicncics, Roche prepared questions that he expected would be put to a witness to
clicit evidence supportive ol that view. This represents a complete abdication of the

objeclive standards expected ol expert wilnesses.

444, Roche was asked to explanation the “eood afly” comment in his ¢-mail. The
only explanation he offered was that it was “probably a poor choice of words™ but he
meant to say that he “wanted this interview conducted on the basis of information that
could be obtained which would assisi me in determining whether my line of

undersianding of deficient command and control was in fact correct™.

445 At 17518, Roche was pressed about his use of the word "a/ly" suggesting 1t
connoled “the forming of opposing sides”, and he responded:

“Oh, look, I'm not a dictionary. I'm not prepared to debale the application of
words I have indicated to you it was probably a poor choice of words. .. My
explanation . . is that 1 believed My Winter in his siatement, and the questions
which 1 was asking the police to assist me with, were that My Winter's
information may have assisted me in arriving or firming in my conclusion that
there were problems with command and control within ESB .. "7
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446.  Furthermore at 17519, 1t was put to Roche that he was

“taking sides, ... (he) the police on one side and the I'SB on the other”,

a proposition he denied. Roche offered no meaningful explanation for his use of the
words in question, preferring instead (o avoid the 1ssue by not wishing to “debate the
application of words™. Notwithstanding his denial, the words in the e-mail are clear
and their meaning [ree of ambiguity  he was clearly taking sides and more
importantly, he was secking to obtain cvidence of a certain kind to support the

viewpoinl ol his ‘side’.

447 The Winter incident was not an 1solated onc. At 17672/3, Roche stated that he
was appointed to assist the Coroncr in August 2003, Before the end of September
2003, he had received some statements including the Cheney report. He wrote a
minute to Woodward on 18 Scptember 2003 regarding the Bureau ol Meteorology
submission (exhibit 105). Based on these materials, Roche formed the view that lires
could have been held after an aggressive and concentrated fire attack immediately
following ignition. This was an opinion formed before any evidence had been given
and indicated a propensity of Roche 1o arrive al pre-emplive conclusions on
incomplefe and scant mformation and fo then pursuc cvidence to support those

conclusions.

448.  As for the last mentioned mattier, Roche was asked:
O Did yvou at any time .. atlempl to secure evidence to bring about a
particular outcome in this inguest?
A No
(17674/5)

449 His atiention was then drawn o his minute to Woodward dated 15 September
2003 (Exhibit 109), recommending,
.. the submission of appropriate evidence from a limited number of residents

that could subsequently support a recommendation ...

consistent with the AFAC evacuation policy and the following question was pui:
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450.

Q: That is a cireumstance ... in which you endeavoured (o persuade people (o
eather a particular type of evidence 1o bring aboul a particular conseqiuence
in this inquiry .7

A Absolutely

Roche was questioned about his suggestion that evidence supporiing

appropriate legislation, to make land managers responsible for limiting the occurrence

and spread of (ires in built-up arcas, should be submitied Lo the Coroner. It was put to

Roche that this was another example where he sought to ensure evidence was brought

to the Inquiry which “supporis a particular predeicrmined view of your own” and he

said:

451.

1 make no apology at all for proposing the adoption by the coroner ... (of such
legistation and practices) ...(17676/TT)

Roche’s views relating o the appropriate means to acquire information from

witnesses is demonstrated by the evidence he gave at 18071-3:

O By September, October and November 2003, you had held firm views
about what had occurred with respect to those fires, didn't you?
A. T held views, yes. Not sel in concrele.

(. When you sel about assisting the AFP with their inquiries - didn't you?
A Yes Al the request of the AFP.

A I didn't set about doing that «i all I was asked by the AFP - I was

Jorwarded statements and | was asked by the AFP to prepare questions, which

Idid

O And you provided them with large numbers of very detailed questions (o

put to those witnesses Lo elicit evidence, didn't you?

A. 1 put {0 them a number of questions. I wouldn't say that they were, in all

cases, a large number. But certainly there were a number of questions that 1

put - that I asked for them (o be put, in the knowledge that il was up o them,
. as to whether they put them or not. It was entively for them (o determine In

a number of cases they didn't use them

Q. And those questions went inlo considerable detail in order to obtain the
kind of information you wanted to obtain, didn't they?

A. To obtain information, ves.

O Not just obiain information, obtain the information that you wanted o
obtain?

A, In some cases that's correcl.

Q  In many cases?
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A That's correct

452.  This evidence indicates that Roche had firm views — even it not immulable

and he assisted in the formulation of questions to be put to wilnesses 1o obtain
information that he wanted to obtain to support the view. It 1s of concern thal Roche
conceded that in many cascs, the questions were directed to obtaining information that

he wanted to obtain.

453, The following evidence was given by him:

Q. Let me give you some examples of the questions you pul 1o Mr Huayes:

"Was he surprised that there were no resources on the fire overnight?"”
Would you agree, ... that that question evinces a view that you think that there
were inadequate resources on that fire overnight?
A You might look at it that way.

() Your next quesiion:
“In his opinion, if the fire had been resourced at night would this have
contributed (o early conlainment of the fire?”
That plainly evinces your view that that should have occurved and that you
wanted io obtain informaiion to support that view that you held; would you
agree?
A T don't agree.  Quite a siraightforward question o say if you did
something, what would be the ouicome at that particular time? Quite a
straightforward question, I would have thought ... I could have cqually asked
if vou didn't put anything on it, what do you think the ouicome would have
been?
Q. You didn't, did you?
A Tdidn't.
O You asked the question io elicit the answer you wanted to get.
A Tdon't believe that 1 don't think that's the case.
(18073/4)

454.  Both questions, the subject of this cvidence were leading questions, the
characteristic of which was o suggest an answer by the questioner, rather than being
open questions. 1t is a forensic fechnique vsed by cross-examiners in an altempt to
exact concessions from reluctant witﬁcsscs More importantly, it indicates to the
person who is asked the questions, what the view of the questioner is and what the
expected or desired answer is. The vice therefore is itwolold: firstly that an expert 1s
complicit in obtaining evidence of a given kind and sccondly, that the actual

questioning technique is calculated to produce desired answers. Neither of these vices
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is consistent with the objective discharge of the dutics of an expert wilness and 1s

indicative of a partisan posilion.

455.

Similar observations apply to the following cvidence given by Roche ai

18075/6 where the suggestion fo the police officers asking the questions, was not

even in the torm ol a question but in the form of puiting a proposition:

456.

() Let me read the next question you asked to be put:
"Put it fo him that i 'if the fire escaped the coniginment lines
overnight it was possible, if not highly probable, that a fallback
position would have to be adopted the next day adding 1o the size of the
fire and length of containment line unnecessarily.”

A, Straighiforward question.

Q. So vou think it is appropriate to direct the AP or (o request the AFP 1o
put it to him that, open quotes, and then put that to him, do you think that is
the appropriate course lo lake, is i?

A f they chose to take that course, yes. That's the information I wanied, was
if that occurred, what would oceur?

O I pur it to you, Mr Roche, that you were asking ihe police to put to Mr
Huavyes that very question, weren'f you?

A Yes '

(). The question itself was designed to establish that fact, wasn't it?

A, Designed to establish the information on what would have occurved had
that action have occurred or not occurred.

() That is not seeking his information; that is seeking his adoption that thai
was frue.

A Tdon't agree.

O Your next question:

"Put it to him isn't a key function of a planming unil (o oblain intelligence from

field commanders (himself) during a shift to enable them to develop a plan and

appropriate resourcing for the nexi shifi, ie in this case a night shift "
A Yes

Q. That is desigmed to ask him to acknowledye thai that is frue, isn't it?
A To confirm that, ves.

O That's the view you held?

A Well it's a fact

Roche was further pressed about whether he held that view concerning the

function ol the planning unit — an issue which was relevant and uncontroversial.

Instcad of a straight forward reply, he declined to answer the question and became

argumentative:
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Q. ... | am asking whether or nof that is your view of the role, the function of
the planning unif? .

A T agree that the role of the planning — that that is the vole of the planning
unit, as set oul in the Australasian Five Authorities Council training material.
Q. Why cavil wiih the question?

A Because I don't like your line of questioning, that's why.

Q. I'm sorrey if you don't like the line of questioning. | am simply asking you,
if you hold a view that that represents a key funciion of the planning unit, why
do you choose (o deny i1?

A. 1 guess Lam mistrustful of some people, Mr McCarthy.

(T8O77)

457.  The cffcet of Roche’s evidence at 18079/80 was that it was a matter for his
judgment as to when leading questions should be asked fo ¢licit information from

wilnesses:

O. T am simply suggesting to you that if you want fo find out Mr Hayes' view
.. the preferable course, from an expert's point of view, is to ask him what he
thinks, not to put a proposition to him and hope that he agrees with if.

A That's one option

Q. Do you agree it is the preferable course?

A. Nof necessarily, no, [ don't

Q. In what situation would if not be the preferable course?

A 1 dow't know You are being hypothetical and I can't answer that

() ... My question_is in what circumstances do you think it is appropriate (o
puf g guestion that suggests the answer?

A Circumstances where you want an answey, where you believe there is an
answer. 1 mean, there are different ways of questioning different people.

Q. You tell me in what situation is it preferable to put a _question thal is
designed to elicit the answer?
A, In the circumsiances where { pul il.

458, Roche agreed that the questions he formulated for the witness Blinksell were
also of a lcading type

() .. the questions that followed were designed to obtain evidence that you
thought would be valuable?

A That could be correct

(18082)

459, 1t is submitted that if [resh facts arise relating to an issue on which an expert
has formed an opinion, his or her role is to give proper consideration to those facts

and if they are reliable, make any necessary changes to the carlier opinion. Roche
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took a dilferent view - at T 7856-7, his allention was drawn to an analysis of a survey
of Canberra residents whose houses had been burnt, relating o the issue of
community awareness. Roche was unaware that 86% ol those surveyed knew of the

preparations to (ake and they took some preparations.

460.  Roche gave no real consideration to how those facts alfected the opinion in his
report. 1lis response was twolold - (o question the reliability of the results bascd on
“what questions were asked” even though be had no knowledge of what those
questions were and secondly (o adopt the fallacious process of reasoning that lack of
community awarencss should be inferred from the extent of the houses lost. Roche
disagreed that it was a good indication of community awareness and:

Proof is in the pudding

The ontcome was that 500 houses were lost

(17858)

Opinions based on absence of evidence

461, At 18014, Roche was critical of the Jack of pre-2002/3 fire season preparation
in relation (o aircrafi, the substance of his complaint being that there should have been
an increased access (o aireraft by the BESB. He formed that view even though he was
unaware of “the number and the specifics,” ol available aircraft and without any
knowledge of the information in Ingram’s second statement. AUT8016, he rejected the
proposition thai it was impossible to criticise the ACT and to suggest they should

have had increased acceess to aircraft when he did not know what they had.

462. Roche made the same criticism about the unavailability of heavy plant, in
circumstances where he did not know whether the nine picces of heavy equipment
listed in Annexure DI3 of Ingram’s stalement, were available for deployment in

Fanuary 2003 or not (18016-18).

463. At F7557/8, Roche was questioned about the adverse views he had formed of

the senior officers in the ACT Tire Brigade, based on the assumption that they had
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prior knowledge of faults in fire brigade pumpers which led them to being buint over
on 18 January. Those assumplions were nol based on evidence from the senior
officers but “on the evidence that formed part of the brief”. Roche disagreed with the
suggestion that it was not his place to speak directly to persons who might know. He
took this position even though he “raised a number of questions on a small number of
wiinesses that should be asked where Twas asked to provide that information”, e.g the

Wintcr information.

464.  Not only did he not include in his report, the qualification that there was no
evidence from the senior officers on the subject but Roche dechined to pursue
information which might have explained a shortcoming,. Lhis is Lo be contrasted with
his apparcnt enthusiasm to pursue inculpatory information which sought to atiribute

blame for deficiencics in command and control.

465. At 17573/4, Roche was referred io at p.39 of his report, where he made
criticisms of what should have been done in preparation for the fire scason. the

following exchange took place:

Q. .. You are asscrting there that these are things that should have been
done in the lead-up fo the January I8 fires?
A That's my view - sorry, leading up to, in some cases, 1he summer season.

0. Are you also asserting that none of these matiers were attended (07

A From the evidence available io me there was no indication that they were.
(. This is a fairly significant criticism you were making in making this 1ist,
isn't it, if you are suggesting none of this was done?

A That's correct.

Q. Did you make any specific inquiries of anybody in authority who might
know whether these things were done?

A No, Idid not, for the reasons I have previously indicated.

Fhe effcet of this evidence is that once again Roche formed views critical of various
persons on the assumption that things had not been done, based on the absence of
evidence and he failed to have inquiries made from those who would have known the

truc position.
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466.  The tact that Roche in his role as an expert thought it appropriate (o conduct
himsclf in this way is disturbing enough, but evidence he gave is more troubling,

suggesting as it does that he did so despite the fact he knew it was misleading:

Q. What I want lo say to you by way of a proposition to see if you agree or

disagree is this: The only option, and a responsible independent expert has, in

such a circumstance, is to fairly and clearly state, "I have seen no evidence to

show that this is so™ because to state something is not so, on the basis of a

lack of evidence, and then failing to disclose in the report that the basis of

saving that is because you have seen no evidence Lo suggest i, Is misleading;

do you agree with that?

A Yes, sir.

(18124)
467. 1t is submitied that somewhat like the role of a court, where an expert proposes
to make adverse judgments about the conduct of persons, there is an obligation to
ensure that the facts upon which such judgment is based, arc correct. Unfortunately.
the cvidence demonstrated that Roche was prepared (o make highly critical comments
based upon a misconstruction of the evidence before the Inguiry. At 18033/4, Roche
was directed {o p.53 of his report, where he asserted that the burn over of personnel
(he later identificd as Cooper, McNamara and others) was indicative ol madcquate
{raining, situation analysis and poor conmand and tantamount to negligence. In order
to make good this claim, it was nccessary to show that each of these persons was on

duty at the (ime of the bumn-over — because if it were not so, issues of (raining,

command and situation analysis were irrelevant.

468. In relation to the experience of McNamara being burnt over on 18 January,

Roche conceded that he was attempting to save his house on his own initiative:

(. Mr McNamara went to his house in an endeavour, with a number of people
10 help him, to save his house; agreed?

A As Trecall it, yes.

O He ceriainly was doing thal on his own initiative, wasn't he?

A Oh, well 1don't know I can only assume that, yes.

469, ALT 8034/5, Roche was compelled to withdraw the example of McNamara as

indicative of the suggested failings:

O As a result, his situation did not arise from command, poor or otherwise?
A Yes
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Q. So where you say you give him as an example of a burn over that occurred
by reason of inadequate training, that's nof right, is it?

A No.

QO Nor is it an example of a failure fo make a good situational analysis,
because he analysed exactly the vight thing to do?

A Correct.

Q. So Mr McNamara is not an example of that at all, is he?

A Correct

470, Al T8037, similar proposilions were put to Roche in relation to the events
involving Neil Cooper on 18 January. Notwithstanding Cooper’s cvidence that hc was
altempling fo save a person’s property ol his own volition, Roche did not agree
stating:

someone musi have told him 1o go o work and someone must have told him
to report and do something. e didn’t fust gef out of bed in the morning ... and
say Il go fight a fire today, did he? ..

A7E. At 'T8039. Roche ultimately accepted that by reason ol a breakdown in
communications, Cooper was not under command and control; al least “not directly

.7 50 (T8040).

472, In the light of these concessions, an objective cxperl might well have
reconsidered the adverse opinion he had originally formed and perhaps varied it. [
appears that Roche pave the matter no such reconsideration and the regrettable
conclusion is that far from being detached and objective, he was in inextricably

wedded to the conclusion i his report.

473, At 17836/7, Roche gave evidence to the effect that he understood that the
Baldy Range firc was controllable on 8 January. llc appeared (o arrive at that

conelusion in reliance on the evidence and statement of Crawford, on the basis that:

[ scem to remember that there was nothing that indicated that it wasn'l
conirollable

In other words, the conclusion was based on what was not said rather than what in (act
was slated. This approach indicates such a lack of rigour, that opinions bascd on it, are

unreliable.
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Criticisms without sugeesting what was achievable or feasible

474, On a number of occasions, Roche was critical of things omitied to be done by
the T:SB and others and when pressed, would not be drawn on whal he suggested
should have happened. Such a proposition was put 1o him in rclation to the NSW

cffort:

O How can you criticise someone for not working ouf what was needed and
therefore having deployed not enough if you yourself have not worked oul
what was enough?

A The outcome speaks for itself.

(17877)

Roche’s response or lack thereof, docs not engender confidence that his views are

well considered,

475.  As the courts have recognised, the evidence of experts is in a special category,
it heing of a kind to which the judges of fact generally accord great weight. It is for
this reason, in part, that rules have developed to allow a proper and rigorous festing of
such expert opinions. Such testing invariably focuses upon the facts upon which the
opinjon is based and upon an assessment of how such opinion is arrived at. The ACT
submits that where as in this case, an expert merely provides negative views, without
deigning to offer concrete views as 1o how omissions could have been remedied, any

such negative views should be treated with considerable caution.

476.  Roche was equally non-commiltal about the asserted failure to secure aircrall
when he said:

. in my view, arrangements should have been made (o secure or (o ascertain
.. the availability of additional aircrafi. Now what number (o me is irrelevant
at the time. (18015)

Any asscssment as to what different result might have ensued had what Roche

suggested been done, is left unanswered and accordingly, it appears to be criticism

D

merely for the sake of it, rather than for any constructive purpose.
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477. Roche was critical of the warnings given by the IS during the period up to
18 Jannary 2003. At 17549/50, Roche was asked to say what warning he would have
aiven if he was the Incident Controller at 1lam on 18 January but stated he was
unable to do so. The reason he gave was because he would have given the warning

carlicr and “there were too many other variables”.

47%.  Much has been made by counscl assisting and Roche about how loss and
damage could have been avoided by proper warnings. It is difficull to attribute any
weight to the criticisms of an expert when he is unable or unwilling to offer an
opinion on a critical matler in the Tnquiry, some two years after the event and having

had the benefit of the extensive evidence given in this Inquiry.

479, Tven when Roche offered suggestions about what might have been done, he
did so without regard lo what was practically achicvable or within the budgetary
capacily of the ESB. Without these constraints factored in, any recommendations are
of academic valuc only and any criticisms are of no weight at all. By way of example
al 17584-5, Roche was questioncd about the suggestion in his report that the
Stockyard Spur fire could have been fought by firefighters, rappelling from
helicopters to the fire ground. He agreed that (raining and equipment “can be
expensive” and conceded that he had no idea of what the training budget of the ACT

Bushfire Service was.

480. Furthermore, when Roche identified shortcomings, he made no attempt (o
ascertain whether steps had been taken to address such shortcomings. At 17615/6,
Roche stated that he was unaware that Tucas-Smith had attempled to get increased
funding in 2002 for the purposc ol acquiring aircraft operations and a community
cducation officer, liven though Roche stated that he would reconsider his criiicisms of
Lucas-Smith on thosc matters — the fact that he originally made them without

checking the surrounding facts is of concern.

481. 1 appears many ol the adverse findings urged by counsel assisting are based in
large measure on the evidence and opinions of Roche. Those opinions were given in
relation to the asserted inadequacy of the initial response lo the fires; the issuc of

night-time fircfighting: the likelihood that the fires could have been extinguished on
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the first night; the timeliness and adequacy of the warnings and the asserted
deficiencics in various T'SB personnel and others in connection with the initial

response and warnings.

482, I'he ACT accepts that in the context of this Inquiry the evidence of Roche
plays a central role and that the rejection. of his evidence, or atiributing little weight to
it, would not be lightly done. The above analysis indicates however that such a result
must follow: it shows thal Roche was partisan; that he sought to colleet cvidence by
the formulation of leading questions Lo support his pre-conceived ideas; that he
formed opinions based on incorrect cvidence and on the absence from the bricl ol
evidence without cnsuring that this information was correct; that he failed to added
suitable qualifications to his report which showed that this was his approach; and that
he made eriticisms relating to the inadequacy of what was done without specilying,

what should have been done and whether it was achicvable.
483,  For these rcasons, the ACT submits that the cvidence of Roche should be

given little or no weight and that such cvidence forms no sound basis [or the serious

criticisms which counsel assisting urge the Coroner to make.
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WARNINGS

484.  During his cvidence on 18 Tebruary 2004, Lucas-Smith volunteered thal “our
media arrangements and our advice (o the community was sadly lacking” (1'1048.9).
He said “we didn 't emphasise the warnings adequately enough. .. 1 thought we had
more fime 1o do it” (11202.25). As Koperberg sfated, communitics learn from “bitfer
experience” with respect o bushlires.  The introduction in May 2004 ol the
Emereencies Bill 2004, and the application of Tessons Jearned from the January 2003

fires in [uture cergencics, will see the ACT community betler protecied.

485. 1t is appropriate that the Court examine the question of why more cffective
warnings were not given to the ACT community in January 2003, It is clear from the
cvidence of Lucas-Smith, Castle and others thal warnings were given (o tural
communitics in the ACT on the evening of 17 January and the morning of 18 January

2003 (11776, 1845).

486.  The AC I accepts that warnings should have been given to the communiiies on
the western cdge of Canberra carlier than occurred on 18 January 2003, However, a
key factor explaining the absence of carlier warnings was the extraordinary and
unexpected nature of the event, including the speed and intensity of the fire that struck
Duffy on the aficrnoon of 18 January 2003. Crawford acknowledged that there is an
clement of judgment in defermining when warnings must be given (14521.39).
Arthur said ihat it was “a very fine balance” as to when you warn people lo leave

their homes (14622.24).

487 The ACT submits that it is critical 10 the coronial process that the cvents of 18
January 2003 be assessed objectively.  The tragedy that overtook many persons,
including the firefighters, is incontrovertible. An emotional response to the cvents,
and the rccounﬁng of them, would be understandable. However, the community will

be best served by a measured and objective examination of what occurred.  That task,
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undertaken by a judicial officer in a constructive and non-punitive manner, lies at the

heart of the coronial funchion.

488, In moving (o examine relevant evenls on a daily basis from 8 January 2003, il
must be kept (irmly in mind that any judgments must be made in the light ol

knowledee then possessed by, or available (o, relevant decision makers.

489, The ACT submits that in making any judgments about whether the lack of
warnings of serious risk of an impact on the suburbs of Canberra was a serious and
deliberate omission by ESB officers, it is proper to have regard to two important
matters. The first is what motive, if any. did the senior ESB ollicials have for such
omissions? The second is whether other actions of such officials are consisient with
the proposition that the omissions to warn were deliberate. The ACT submits that in
order {o fairly assess whether these serious allegations are sustainable, these [wo
matters must remain in the forefront of one’s thinking, The ACT submits that il these
{wo mallers are taken into account, as expanded below, the conclusions urged by

counsel assisting cannot be sustained.

490, In relation (o the issue of motive, counsel assisting do not suggest any reason
why [I:SB officers might decide to knowingly withhold information and, it 13
submilted, no motive is suggested by the circumstances. There was no personal or

other interest of the ESB officers in question in withholding appropriaic warnings.

491. A suggestion was advanced was in some arcas that the wamnings were
withheld so as not to alarm the public. The position urged by counscl assisting in the
present case is that from at least 15 January 2003, if certain weather conditions
prevailed, and the fires had not been contained, there was a real risk or even an
inevitability, that the fires would impact urban Canberra. Further, they asscrt that the
senior I'SB officials knew of this eventuality and knew that little could be done in the

way of cffective suppression steps.

492 There would seem to be no possible benefit or advantage to the ESB officials
in withholding warnings in these circumstances. The event will occur; panic is more
likely to ensue; presumably loss and damage may result, and the lack of judgment of
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the officers making that conscious decision will be readily exposed. 1t is extremely
unlikely that the officers in question would not have realised the inevitability of this
result. The alternative explanation that T'SB officers did nol appreciate the seriousness
ol the risk is substantially more logical. Accordingly, the proposition that the ESB

officials omitted to warn so as o avoid panic in the Canberra community is untenable,

493, In any cvent, the suggestion that the avoidance ol panic was the motivating
[actor is denied by the LSB officers. On this analysis, there is simply no evidence of
what motivated the TSB officers to make a decision to deliberately withhold warnings

(rom the Canberra community.

494, It would be a remarkable and serious finding to make that, absenl any motive,
these 1:SB officers knowingly withheld information relating to the impact of the fires.
The ACT accepts that the Court will conduct its considerations applying common
sense and will bring (o the process its knowledge of human affairs and experience.
The Court must be satisfied o a high degree in order find that a scrious allegation
such as this is made ouf ¢f. Briginshaw. The ACT submits that there is no occasion at
all for the making of such serious findings. This is especially so when the proposition

was not expressly put to any of the affected witnesses.

495 The process by which counsel assisting draw inferences of itentional
withholding of information is also ftawed. The suggestion is ihat despite their denials,
the T'SB officers must have known of the potential impact of the fires. Counsel
assisting point fo the knowledge of the officers of past disastrous fircs, of the volatile
state of the fucls, severe [ire weather, and the indications of various persons belore

&

and during the fites, of a potential for the fires to impact the Canberra urban edge.

496, One inference is that, having regard to these matters, the [SB officers must
have known and did know ol the potential of these fires despite the fact thal they were
undoubtedly aware of the matters mentioned above, it is doubtful that all these matters
were in the forefront of their thinking when the issue of warnings came io be
considered. Tt is unsurprising that their immediate focus was on the problems
involved in dealing with the fires. It is therefore unlikely that, when decisions were

made in the course of their dutics (hroughout the relevant time, that they had regard to
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all of the information and broader background considerations. ft might have been
different if there was an occasion for standing back and giving the matters calmer

consideralion.

497.  The more likely inference is that whilst the matters referred to above, put the
ollicers on notice of a potential for a scrious fire event to cventuate, they did not
appreciate this potential as realistic and immediate prospect.  That this may have
occurred is understandable, having regard to their limited level of experience in farge
fire events and their previous successful record in suppressing fires in the ACI.
Whatcever comments may be made aboult their experience and performance during this
cvent, the ACT submits that this is a reasonable inference, indeed the most likely one,
and contradicts any suggestion that omissions to issue warnings were dcliberaie i the

sense that counsel assisting submii.

498 The sccond and conneeled reason for rejecting the submissions that the ESI
officers were willully withheld warnings involves an examination of other actions of
such officials, to defermine if those actions are consistent with the proposition that the

omissions o warn were willul.

499, If the premise is that such omissions to warn the Canberra urban community
were intentional, there appears 1o be no logical reason why they would prejudice one
sceiion of the ACT community to wamn (namely the rural residents) and deny
warnings to another. There is no doubt that extensive efforts were made to warn rural
residents thought to be at risk on 17 January and that Tucas-Smith authorised thosc

ellorts. The evidence in relation to that process 1s summatised below.

5000 At the alternoon Planning Meeting on 17 January 2003, senior 1ISB officers
and others discussed the need to advise rural residents of the imminent impact of the
fire. The Minules of that meeting (LSB.AIP.0110.0865) rccord that discussion as

follows:

There is a need to determine the current occupancy of properties around the
Corin area and whether residents intend to evacuale or stay.

149



501. The handwriitten notes ol that planning meeting (ISB.AFP.0110.0934) also

confirm that discussion:

Corin  gei public ready, msg to rural community

PLS ... determine oce properties evac or stay?(at 0938)

502.  The cvidence of a number of wiinesses who were tasked wilh the duty of
warning the rural residents confirms that their directions to do so came from the

scnior officers of the ESI3,

503.  In Marika [Tarvey’s statement (ESB.AYP.0111.0206), she states:

29 It was apparent al the 6 pm mecting that things were going fo be bad for
the rural areas around the ACT. It was apparent in the meeting that we needed
to jocus quickly on what needed to be done for people in the rural areas. It
was serious enoush Lo start looking at things like Recovery Centres ..

30 At the meeting, the need fo contact people in rural areas to appraise them
of the threat was discussed, fo provide them with the right advice and
protective measures (o adopt. This became the mimber one priovity for Friday
evening and all of our resources were focused on working as hard as we could
o1 this priovify.

Harvey confirmed this in her evidence at 12400.

504.  David Prince, in his statement (AUS.ATP.0070.0005) said:

15 About 1800 on Friday, [7th January 2003, 1 atfended the second bushfire
briefing for the day. ... The risk of that fire reaching the urban inferface was
now increased.

16 1 was directed by the Chief Exccutive Officer of Justice and Commiunily
Safety My Tim Keady and the Fire Commissioner and tasked (o work with Ms
Marika Harvey of the Chicf Ministers Public relations Unil to develop a
process for the Media, Canberra Comnect and to inform vural lessees. ... A
number of rural lessees were contacted and given appropriate warnings of
danger. This work went through to about midnighi. Copics of that information
were handed to Police on the 18th March 2003

505.  1n his statement (ESB.AFP.0110.0481) McRac said:
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112 I expressed the view that the Stockyvard fire would quickly head east
toward Smokers Gap; that the Bendora fire would also head east towards the
Cotier River and probably cross that river. and that the Mclntyres Hut fire
was likely io break confainment and run towards the Uriarra pine plantation J
expressed these opinions at a meeling of the SMT involving Peter Lucas-
Smith, Tony Graham, Dave Ingram and myself prior to the larger planning
meeting that afiernoon. I vepeated these views duving the planning meeting.
There was weneral consensus that this was the likely situation

13 The immediate planning task, therefore, was lo identify assets at risk. We
identified immediate assets af visk to be rural vesidences, the pine plantations,
Corin Dam Ski Resort and the Tidbinbilla National Park. It was apparent that
other services including ACT Ambulance and the ACT Iire Brigade should be
briefed on ihe developmenis. ... I provided them with a copy of the ACT Rural
Residences Directory which is a directory that I had prepared approximately
1.2 months previously that identifies all yural residences and their locations. 1
provided about 20 copies of that direciory, and others arranged for many
more to be made. T understand thai the Logistics Unil provided topographical
maps.

115 During that afternoon, I worked with various people from Canberra
Connect which constituted the media unit at ESB for the purpose of
commuricating the fire risks to residences in rural ACT west of the
Murrumbidsee river. We decided to do this on a district-by-district basis and
to cover all districts west of the Murrumbidgee River T provided Canberra
Connect with a list of the districts west of the river and they then ook
responsibility for preparing the media release

McRae eave similar cvidence o the Inquivy (13402).

506.  This evidence indicates that when Lucas-Smith and other senior officers in the
SMT recognised an imminent risk to rural residents of Canberra from the fires, they
dirceted that immediate and timely steps be taken (o convey warnings of that risk to
thosc residents. There is nothing in the evidence to suggest that senior officers were
constrained by any considerations other than the perfectly proper desire to issue

timely warnings,

507.  The ACT submits that there is no conccivable reason why those senior officers
would take this approach in the intercsts of the rural residents, and take a

diametrically opposcd approach (o the residents of the urban edge of Canberra.
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508. Counscl assisting have not suggested any reason for this distinction. As a
matler of common sense, the only rcasonable inference is that in the case of the rural
residents, the actions by the senior olficers were prompied by their recognition of the
imminent risk. Tn the case of the urban residents that awarencss had not yet

eventuated.

509. A review of the evidence leading up o the impact ol the fires on 18 January
clearly shows that senior ESB officers and others did not recognise the imminent

potential serious conscquences of the impact of thosc fires.

510. A major focus of this Tnquiry was the investigation of why that was so.
Counsel assisting urge findings of serious and deliberate omissions in many respects.
The ACT submits that there is an obvious cxplanation for such omissions.  Lhere is
clear evidence that the senior ESB olficers in question worked long bours for up to 10
days in the critical period leading to the 18 January 2003. It cannot be doubted that in
the course of this cvent, they operated in stressful conditions, dealing with a
multiplicity of decisions both simple and complicated, and making judgment calls
about matters having serious conscquences. Ordinary human experience indicates that

under those pressures a physical toll is taken on even the most robust individuals.

511, Tt is in these very circumstances that individuals are likely to be distracled
fron important issues and may make judgments which on closer analysis are not the
best judgments which could be made. To recognise this is simply to recognise a facet
of the ordinary human condition. The ACT submits that all its officers worked bard
and with the best intentions i the course of these events. The ACT submits that when
consideration is given to making f{indings adverse lo such persons there should be a
recognition of the constraints and pressurcs under which they were operating. Any
findings made about their conduct, in order to be fair and rcasonable, should reflect

this.

6 2 Submission in summary

512.  In Chapter 6 of their submissions, counsel assisting address the issue of

warnings and suggest there arc (hree critical issues: when did it become apparent to
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senior personnel at ESB that there was “a realistic risk of the fires, probably in
combination, having an impact” on nominated parts of Canberra; whether information
about (he risk was conveyed in a timely and appropriate manner; and if not, why not

(paragraph 1198).

313, In order that there can be meaning(ul responses (o these issucs, there needs to
be a recognition of the scope, magnitude and fiming of the fires which were expeeted
by senior ESB officials.  Otherwise, this approach is unfair.  The gquestion
presupposes an understanding of “what might he coming”, as though the fires that
struck Canberra on 18 January 2003 werc within the range of what was cxpected
during the Icad-up 1o that day. If were is cotrect fo assume that the scenior HSB
officials did or should have foreseen the events of 18 January, then the answers (o the
three questions posed by counsel assisting can only result in a critical assessment of

the cfforis of the LSB. The evidence does not support this assumption.

514, The ACT submits thal the first and most important question is: when did
senior personnel al ESB recognise the possibility that fires such as (hosc which
cveniuated on 18 January 2003 may occur? Only .in the context of that question

should the issues raised by counscl assisting be addressed.

515.  The evidence makes clear that no one involved in the suppression of the fires
had any appreciation. that the events of 18 January 2003, or cvents of that kind. were
about to unfold until late moming on 18 January 2003. Afler that time, the speed and
enormity of the disaster overwhelmed everybody,  I'he ACT submils that had ESB
officials appreciated what was about o oceur, the warmnings to the community would
have been very differeni. Contrary to their evidence, counscl assisting posc the three

issucs and make their submissions on the basis that ESB had that appreciation.

516. The ACT accepts the broad proposition that the warnings of whai was later to

oceur were inadequate.

517, The ACT accepts that from at lcast 13 January 2003, most senior olficers and
many others working in or for [ISB had cither been informed or independently
recognised the possibility that “any strong westerly gusts of wind could turn the firc
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towards the urban areas” of Canberra (Lucas-Smith 11017, ESB.AIP.0110.0551 at
paragraph 72). However, it was not their expectation that this was imminent, and cven
when the time came, that they expeeted the fires to reach the urban edge, what

occurred was vasily diffcrent to what was expected.

518, Ii is also submiticd that had evenis unfolded as expected by IISB officials, and
any warnings werc not given until more specific information became available, the
questions now posed by counsel assisting would have barcly arisen. The Inquiry into

the 2001 fires illustrate why your Uonour should draw that conclusion.

519.  During the 2001 fires, the predictive process undertaken by 1HSB personnel,
who were similarly qualified to those who undertook the task in 2003, was materially
the same as what occurred in 2003, This was despite what was viewed in 2001, based
on the experienee and training of those involved, as a relatively quickly developing
firc. Those warnings on thai occasion were accepted as proper and adequate (Report
on the 2001 Bushfire Event, Brian Parry, 16 October 2003 at p.10; ACT Bushfire
Service Report on 2001 Bushfires, EFSB.AFP.0057.0001 at p. 20).

520.  Preparation and warnings, by definition, can only occur in the context of what
is rcasonably expected, as opposed to what is possible 1f cerlain variable faclors
eventuate,  The events of 18 January were wholly unexpected and it is unfair and

ultimately unhelpful to appraise conduct devoid ol its context.

521, The passage in Gleeson C1’s judgment in Rosenberg v Perci val which we have

carlier quoted bears repetition in this context:

In the way in which litigation proceeds, the conduct of the parties
is scen through the prism of hindsight A foresceable risk has
eventuated, and harm has resulted  The pavticular risk becomes
the focus of attention. But al the iime of the allegedly lortious
conduct, there may have been no reason to single it out from a
number of adverse contingencics, or lo attach to it the significance
it later assumed — Recent judgments in this Cour! have drawn
aitention (o the danger of a failure, after the event, to lake account
of the confext, before or al the time of the event, in which a
contingency was to be evaluated. This danger may be of particular
significance where the alleged breach of duty of care Is a failure 1o
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warn about the possible risks associated with a course of action,
where there were, af the lime, strong reasons in favour of pursuing
the course of action.

An analysis ol the facts makes it clear that the submissions of counsel assisting

succumb to this danger.

6.3 The risk recognised and understood

522, Paragraphs 1200-1202 of the submissions of counsel assisting illustrate the

crror identified in Rosenberg v Percival. TSI was aware of the 1939 and 1952

wildfires. Articles aboul the 1939 fires were on the wall outside the cxecutive arca ol
ISB for all to read during the 2003 fires, and officers did so (McNamara 13782

3784). Lucas-Smith spoke about the [952 fires on several occasions. He bricfed
(Cabinet about those fires and later brieled members of the ACT Fire Brigade about
them on the afternoon of 16 January 2003 (Lucas-Smith [1053-1054). Lucas Smith
spoke about the 1928, 1939 and 1952 fires in the article published n The Canberra
Times on 17 January 2003 entitled “Next <ive Days Critical”, even to the point of
informing the public that those fires burnt into the arca now occupied by the Woden

town centre (ESB.AFP.0O110.0973).

523, ESB was also aware, as a matter of broad proposition, of the potential for such
[ircs to occur again. It is onc thing {o be aware of catastrophic fires in the past; it is
another to be aware of the precise impacts ol such [wes and especially so when the
physical environment in the path of the fires has changed greatly. 1urther, they were
aware that in January 2003 the fucl in the Brindabella ranges was extremely
flammablc. Internal and external communications to that cffect had been occurring
{for some time during the 2002-2003 bushfire scason, and continued to be sent after 8
January 2003 when bushfire bad become actual rather than potential. In other words,
the potential for catastrophic fires was recognised as a possibility, both before and

after the fires in quesiion began.

524, It is quitc wrong, however, to characterise this knowledge as cquating (o
knowledge that the fires that began on 8 Tanuary 2003 might reasonably become fire

of the kind that struck Canberra on 18 January 2003. It 1s submitted thal no one
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involved in the suppression of the fires had the knowledge or appreciation that the

fires would impact as they did.

525 The fact that by 8 January 2003 the ESB had successfully attacked and
extinguished, without major incident, some 92 other fires during the 2003/03 fire
scason belies the surely of the hindsight evidence about the severity of apparent

dangers as at 8 January 2003 (Lucas-Smith T802).

526. The Dccember 2001 fires involved six separate fires burming in various
locations bul. all proximate to or within Canberta. Tires began at around 1330 hours
on Christmas Fve at Iuntley and Coppins Crossing, followed by two more ignitions
al 1600 hours on Bruce Ridge and in Red 111l On Christmas Day, fires began at
Oaks Tstate and soon alter, ai Wanniassa Hills. On ihat occasion, the wecather
conditions were scvere and flammability of the forest fucls was high. 11 was
perceived that the fires would impact on the urban cdge of Canberra and this later
oceurred. The fires began burning in locations more proximate to Canberra than in
2003, yet cach of them was ultimately controlled and extinguished without loss of
built property (except fencing and some paddock sheds). By contrast, the 2003 fires
initially involved four not six fires; they were all a considerable distance from

Canberra; and once was not even within the ACT.

527. 1t is one thing to have a theorctical appreciation of what can eccur. 1L 1s quite
another {o have an actual expectation that something will occur or might rcasonably
occur. Regarding the events of 18 January 2003, ESB had the theoretical appreciation

P

but not the actual expectlation.

528.  The ACT a.ccéljts that the warnings (o the Canberra community were “sadly
lacking”. The ESB officers acled in good faith. The ACY submits that omissions to
warn were a product of their limited experience in large fire events of this kind, and of
an optimism that the fires could be suppressed borne of their previous suceesses in
suppressing fires in that more limited context. Fhe ACT submits that if this is the
correct conclusion there is no warrant for the making of further findings about the
personal responsibility of individual officers, which can have no other purpose than

the attribution ol blame.
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520, TVirst, the existence of the fires was known (o the Canberra community during
the period in question. TESB added to that public knowledge by giving information
about the location of the fires, the fire fighting efforts that were occurring, and 1ts

views about future fire behaviour.

530.  Sccondly, it is submitied that ESB officers spoke in terms of legitimately held
expeelations about the fire suppression efforts, but never said that the fircs were under
control. and indeed 1o the contrary continued to inform the Canberra community that

despite their efforts the fires were nol under control.

531.  Thirdly, [:SB officers provided information consistent with how  they
perccived the risk. In particular, during the fire cveni, Castle and Lucas-Smith
acknowledged during media interviews that an impact on Canberra was possible, as

addressed further in these submigsions.

532,  Tixiensive material had been given Lo the Canberra community beforchand,
particularly during 2002, about how to prepare for bushfires (ESB.GSO.0005.0812).
The ACT submits that the Canberra communily were reasonably well cducated by
1SB and other Territory agencies concerning the risk of wildfire and that there was a
rcasonable Tevel of knowledge within the community about fire readiness, as
cvidenced by the analysis of community surveys (Watson  stalement
ESB.DPP.0013.0234). However, the In formation provided during the 2003 cvent was
of a pencral nature and not specific as 1o what might later occur. No one at ESB
recognised until mid-morning on 18 Januwary 2003 that a scrious mmpact on the
Canberra community was a tcal or probable outcome. Tiven by mid morning on 18
Tanuary 2003 the expectations about the event were significantly Jess serious than the

cvenlt that occurred.

533, When judging the adequacy or otherwise ol the warnings which were given by
the ESB in January 2003, it is instructive to have regard 1o the evidence of Lucas-
Smith relating to the considerations he had in mind when this issuc was raised with
him. At 1983/4. Lucas-Smith stated that as at 13 January, although he had constdered

it, he did not think that “i7 was a realistic prospect” that the western cdge of Canberra
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would be affected. In relation to information that he should have conveyed to the
AP on 16 January 2003 concerning the potential impact on the urban cdge, T.ucas-
Smith stated that “if (the poiential impact on the urban edge) was not something thal
was prominent in our thinking at thai particular time, but it was there. The potential
existed ” and had he thought that “the most serious potential for impact (was) on

urban edge .7 he would have made that issue far more prominent ( [1083).

534, AL T1126, Lucas-Smith expressed the view that the “fire was certainly going
to approach the urban edge. What the impact that fire was going fo be and where
that was going to occur 1 hadn't formulated a plan.” Similarly Lucas-Smith stated that
a factor which inhibited his abilily to issue warnings on 18 January 2003, was: that he
“__didn't have the information of when and where” the [ires might impact (11127). In
eiving evidence aboul the warnings on 18 January 2003, Lucas-Smith stated ... f
think we didn't emphasise the warnings adequately enough. | thought we had more

time to do that”(11202)

535 The ACT submits that Lucas-Smith’s evidence in this regard should be
accepted as the true state of his thinking at those times. This evidence indicates it was
his belicf that the urban ¢dge was not at immediate risk and that there was time belore
the fires might impact for the warnings fo be given. Furthermore, it was his belict that

the magnitude of the fires which would threaten Canberra was nowhere near “thal sort

of ferocity” which occurred (T1205).

536.  The ACT accepts that there is no reason why a broad precautionary message,
linked to the fires then buring. concerning preparation of homes and property in the
rural farming arcas, rural villages and westemn urban interface could not have been
undertaken on 16 and 17 January 2003 for the period from Saturday to Monday 18 to
20 January 2003. Ilowever, given the theoretical nature of the possibility, and the
nature of what was thought possible (ground fircs on {ronts that could be attacked by
hushfire service crews once they left the forest, or embers that could be dealt with by
residents and Fire Brigade), it is understandable why warnings were deferred and if

given would necessarily have been very broad.
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537.  The ESB should not be judged against the warnings given after 18 January
2003. Thosc warnings were prepared immediately (ollowing one of the worst [ires in
Australian history. Further, given that the community had never experienced an cvent
of the nature of the 2003 fire, what they would have done if given any rcasonable
precautionary message cannol be predicied and cannot be assessed by reference o
what occurred after 18 January as was suggested at T3361. 1t is notoriously difficult
1o achieve broad education and compliance with preparatory and precautionary
measures. Following a reasonable warning to undertake precautionary measures, itis
reasonable fo expect that some members of the community would have followed the
advice 1o clean up their yards and gutters, but as to a defermination of how many
people would have followed the advice and the extent ol their preparations, any
conclusions will be speculative. The nature of the rcasonable warning would have
been an AFAC like warning - preparations for staying to delend your home. Such a
warning would reasonably have coniained the same type of information provided to
the public during 2001, but be mentioned in connection with the (ires burning to the

west of Canberra in January 2003,

538.  The severily of the fire cvent, as revealed by the factual narrative provided
carlicr in these submissions (sce “Extraordinary Events of 18 January 20037) was
such that it would be in the realms of speculation and inappropriate in the context of
this Coronial Inquiry to conclude that a substantially different outcome would have
heen achicved even if such precautionary adviee had been given.  The issues
concerning warnings to evacuale, as opposed (o warnings 1o make household

preparations, are separate and are dealt with below.

539 As has been slated, such warnings as werc given by ESB officers were
consistent with their understanding of what might oceur, and where and when. It is
accepted that the wamnings later proved to be inadequale and had the cffect of not

conveying an accurate picture of what occurred.

6 4 Risk Apparent on {3 January 2003

540.  The ACT docs not accept Lhe submission of counsel assisting al paragraph

1203 that by 13 January 2003 “it was apparent that there was a realistic visk thai the
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fires might in some form... impact on the wrban area of Canberra.” No Issue can be
taken if that is a hindsight observation, but the evidence of Lucas-Smith at T983/4 is
(o the contrary. Even if the risk was perceived as something that “might in some form”
oceur, that does nof advance matiers since the content and timing of any warnings
would be dictated by the form and timing of any prospective impact.  Furthermorc,
the risk which was known by ESB officers was communicated 1o the Canberra
community in a manner which dealt with the perceived risk but it is conceded, not ina

way which proved adequate.

541, Tor example, at paragraph 1204 counsel assisting refer to an interview with
Castle conducted on ABC 1adio on 13 Tanuary 2003(DPP.DPP.0004.0003). Casile
was asked about a threat to Canberra and, quite properly, acknowledged that risk. 1le
said:

(1%

- our most prevailing winds is from the north-northwesterly and that gives
us 180°_and would bring the fires back into us and back on to us in a meh
wider front So that’s the concern we actually have” (emphasis added)

542 When asked whether the fires could threaten Canberra, Castle acknowledged

that risk but tricd (o give it context, commensurate with his understanding. He said:

< wouldn't want to be that dramatic ... they don’t look particularly large
from down in the urban area, bul they could present quite a — guite_a
sionificant impact, hut there’s a ot between where they currently are and the
urban edge (emphasis added). ”

543.  The ACT accepts that the risk was not explained in positive terms which
would have suggested some action was required on the part ol the public, but nor was
the magnitude of the risk or its imminence understood by BESB olficers. Secondly, as
the risk was not thought to be “a realistic prospect”, there was no knowledge of the
“where, when, or what” of the impact of the fires so that a warning about the risk

could only have been given in the broadest terms, as was done,

544. At paragraph 1203, counsel assisting submit that your Honour should reject
ucas-Smith’s evidence that on 13 January 2003 he saw the prospect of the fires

impactine on Canberra as a possibility, but not a “realistic prospect”. The ferm
g 1 !
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“realistic prospect” is one of variable content  with reasonable and diflering views as
to the cerlainty of the suggested result. That Lucas-Smith was awarc of a possible
outcome of impact on the urban edge cannot be denied - bul it was at that time onc of
number of possibilitics. Until there was some recognition that one outcome was more

likely than another, the proposition that it was a realistic prospect is harder (o sustain.

545.  The transcript teveals that Lucas-Smith expressed that opinion in the context
of acknowledging the inhcrent uncertainty of fire behaviour. He foresaw a much
larger fire event and was considering fallback options to the east. He also recognised
the potential for the fire to go a long way il unchecked, but had not formed concluded
views due to variables such as the possibility of intervention and the weather patlerns
(Lucas-Smith 1983 — 984). It was not put to Lucas-Smith in cross-examination that
his evidence of the prospects of the fires reaching urban Canberra was incorrect or
should not be believed. The ACT submits that there is no basis for your Honour to

reject Lucas-Smith’s evidence about his pereeption of the risk.

546.  Counsel assisting rely upon two matters in support of their contention in this
regard: the terms of Castle’s request for Commonwealth assistance; and the facl that
Chency told Lucas-Smith that the westerly winds would bring the [ires into Canberra

City.

547.  There are two reasons why the request for Commonwealth assistance by
Castle on 12 January 2003 cannot be used as a basis for rejecting I.ucas-Smith’s
evidence  In the first place, the evidence indicates that Castle was the author of the
document. Tucas-Smith neither contributed to or approved the text of that document.

At 1993 he gave the following cvidence:

QO Were you part of the formulation of this
request for Commonwealth assistance?
A. No, 'was nol

O Did you advise on the information that should

o into it?
A No, Fdidn't
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548 The novel suggestion by counsel assisting scems to be that the Court should
make a finding adverse to a person based upon a statement made by another person,
which statement he neither contributed to nor approved. 'That proposition should be

rejected.

549, The second reason why the terms of the request give no basis o rejeet Lucas-
Smith’s evidence is that even if knowledge of the words could be imputed to him,
(here is no explicit statcment from which it could be inferred thai any identi fied threatl
was to the Canberra urban area. The teferences o arcas threatened related to “the
ACT water catchment areas” and “the ACT”.  llaving regard to the size and
particularly the location of the fircs, the references in the Commonwealth assistance
document can. only be sensibly rcad as pereeived threats (o ACT assels which were

then proximate Lo the [ires.

550. Counsel assisting also rely upon Cheney’s communication with Lucas-Smith
on 13 January 2003. The ACT submits that, having regard to the evidence of the
participants to this exchange and the circumstances in which ihe exchange occurred,
there was scope for misunderstanding.as to the gravity of the risk. Indeed, it appears
that T.ucas-Smith did in fact misunderstand what was conveyed as to the risk. Tn his
evidence, Cheney gave a number of formulations as to what he conveyed to Lucas-

Smith on that occasion:

Q. You said you had a view as of, I think, 14
January as to what mighi happen

A Well, in general terms, simply that if we

got extreme weather, the positioning of these
fires and the behaviour of fires under extreme
weather would push them into Canberra Il was
just that, if we did get an extreme day, the

wind divection would be somewhere between
north-west and west and it would have the
capacity to burn into Canberra (emphasis added)
(T433)

551. At T434 he gave the following evidence:

(. Did you have occasion to speak with anyone
- any authorily within the Emergency Services
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Burean about that opinion that you held?

A Twas contacted by our press liaison

officer on the Monday, who was handling
inquiries from the media, and had lined up that
1 talk to Win Television, and ' rang Mr
Lucas-Smith on Monday afiernoon, towards the
evening, and advised him that I was going to be
asked questions from Win Television and
expressed my opinion to Peler thal, if they
asked me, Iwould have to tell them that in my
opinion il was a very dangerous situation and
that these fires were likely (o burn into
Canberra, and the Win Television decided not to
interview me.

AL T528 he said:

Q. And so when you were speaking to

My Lucas-Smith on the 13th, your view is we
will pet a westerly and when that happens we
have a dangerous situation, is that right?

A Yes, and depending on the strength of that
wind it would determine the degree of danger
and how far the fires would spread But, in any
case, I felt that it was unlikely that we would
get them in under control before that change
would come through and, even if that frontal
system didn't push it into Canberra, then -
we'd normally expect two or three of these
sysfems coming through during the summer

months.

Al T529-530 Cheney gave the following evidence:

(). Was it the case that you had an actual

view then that the fires were likely 1o burn

into Canberra, or was it the case that you had

a qualified view that under cerlain
circumstances they couldn't burn into Canberra?
A The latter would be more accurate because
it depended on the strength of the wind
associated with the change.

Q. Tt was ihe case you didn't express il

that way to Mr Lucas-Smith?

A Texpressed it as an ungualified stafement
that if we gol strong westerly winds we would
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el the fire into Canberra.

Q. [don't want to quarrel with you but
you've just gualified it, the qualification

being "if we eof strong westerly winds™.

A The "if" was always there.

Q. And Mr Lucas-Smith was aware of the "if”,
as vou undersiood it?

A As Tunderstood ii.

554. 1t may be observed that in recounting this evidence Cheney gave slightly
different formulations of his views on or about 13 January 2003 as to the potcential
impacts of the fires — he used the terms “would push inio Canberrd”™;, “would have the
capacity to burn into Canberra™, “were likely to burn into Canberra”, and “the fires
could burn into Canberra”. Having regard to the fact that Cheney made no noles of
that conversation and was relying upon his memory of what occurred approximately
nine months before (T493), the fact that he used different formulations 18 not
remarkable. Cheney's [rank assessment of the conversation he had given i cvidence

was “f think thai was pretty close™ (1529),

555, Whilst on one view the differences are not substantial, when what 1s in
question is a matter of degree, the dilferences are significant.  Accordingly, it is not
surprising that .ucas-Smith interpreted Cheney’s comments as indicating a possible
outcome, without the degree of certainty which Cheney may have wished to convey

and which is pressed by counsel assisting.

556. Lucas-Smith gave evidence concerning this conversation at 1984 to 986. The
cffeet of that evidence was that whilst he could recall that Chency expressed the view
that “the situation was dangerous and the potential for the fire spread was
significant”, he did not agree that any statement was made to the effect that the fires
were likely to burn into Canberra.  The shorthand notes of the aflernoon planning
mecting suggest that Lucas-Smith’s memory in respect of the mention of fire burning
into Canberra may not be reliable.  Of course, the noltes do not specily whether such
event could, would, or was likely to occur and any appreciation of the degree of

mmminent risk depends upon which of these terms is applicable.
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557. In the light of these various formulations, on any reasonable view of what
occurred, there was a genuine scope for a misunderstanding as (o the Ievel of risk
which was conveyed by Cheney.  Indeed, the manner in which the issue was dealt
with at the planning meciing gives support to the proposition that the level of risk

considered by the meeting was not the same as that which Cheney intended to convey.

558,  If il were otherwise, and the suggestion is seriously made that the planning
meeting was told of Cheney’s view, and detcrmined not fo act upon that indication,
counscl assisting put forward no conccivable motive as to why those at the meeting
would do so. Even if some molive might be conceived of for the members of the
SMT. it is not realistically conceivable that everyone who attended the meeting would

dismiss Cheney’s serious view of the imminent risk to urban Canberra.

559. Al paragraphs 1208 = 1212, counsel assisting refer to the Planning Mceting on
14 January 2003 at which Cheney’s view was discussed and submil that the
discussion bees the question why “were not the public informed of the risk”
(paragraph 1209). Counscl assisting’s reference to “the evidence .. (about the Cheney
conversation) was entirely unsatisfactory and many of the witnesses failed to grapple
with the issue” is entirely a product of hindsight. Rather than being indicative of an
unwillingness to remember, this alleged “failure to grapple wiih the Issue” Is more
reasonably construcd as an appreciation by thosc witnesses of a level of risk
sienificantly less immediate than Chency’s view. There appear (o be two alternatives
open - firstly, a conspiracy ol silence amongst all those who atiended that meeting or
alternatively, a dilfercnt view of the potential of the fires. Common scnse and
expericnce would tend to support the latter as being the more likely. ['he evidence ol

the witnesses and their laier course of conduct support this conclusion.

560.  Counsel assisting are implicitly eritical of ihe fact that none of the wilnesses
identificd as being at the meeting had any recollection of this discussion. Indced they
appear to be critical of Graham cven though there was a possibility that he was not
present when this was discussed.  Consistently with the evidence of these identified
witnesses, the note takers — Ferry and Keane - also lacked specific memory of this
discussion (Keane T2520-2523 and Ferry T2567-2570). Tt is hardly likely that the

Cheney prediction, having regard to its serious nature, would be casily forgotien and
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yel it appears to have been. Tt cannot be suggested that the note takers were part of
any conspiracy of silence. This again supporis the conclusion that the level of threatl

recognised by those at the meeting was not the same as that of Cheney.

561.  As has been mentioned, the notes of Ferry and Keane do not specify the level
ol certainty attaching to the winds bringing the fire into (he city. !here was room lor
a reasonable alternative view that the risk adverted to did not have the same level of

immediacy as Cheney’s view  sce Lucas Smith’s evidence earlier.

562.  Cheney’s views were nol ‘kept under wraps’, downplayed, ienored or kept
confidential.  To the contrary, those views were raised at the mecting and openly
discussed for all (o hear, as evidenced by the Planning Mecting notes.  Numerous
people were present, with diverse areas of expertise and with different interests to
consider. Neither the evidence of the wilnesses nor the documentary records indicate
fhat (here was any dispute about the credibility of Cheney’s views. Rather, the notes
record a discussion as to the prospeets of the weather patterns realising the threat
adverted to — this was a discussion quite clearly directed fo a reasonable asscssment of
the imminence of the risk. It might be thought that such a discussion was appropriate
in the circumstances. In the event, the assessment of the meeting as (o the prospeels
of control of the [ircs, proved to be wrong. However, it is submitted that at the time it

was not unrcasonable.

563.  Castle had acknowledged the possibility of a significant impact when asked
about fire in the urban area during a media interview (13 January 2003). 1.ucas-Smith
acknowledged in his evidence that he considered the potential for the fire to gel very
large. McRae reported (o the planning meeting that “strategies will be harder 1o
complete and hold after Friday evening”. These scnior FSB officials understood
there were risks and did not hide those views. The ACY submils that the correct
conclusion to be drawn is that the mecting determined, having regard to the expected
weather change, that the point was not yet rcached thai a public warning was
appropriale. Firc and weather are inherently uncertain phenomena. Reasonable rules
of thumb may be available as to weather cycles, but uncertainty may attach o the
actual timing and attendant outcomes. Cheney was expressing a view aboul

potentials, bul was not saying anything, excepl in broad terms, about “where, when or
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what”. Also, the expectlation about “where, when or what” was more akim to what

ACT had experienced during the previous 5( years.

564. At paragraph 1212, counsel assisting submit that thc manner in which the
planning meeting dealt with the Cheney view indicated “an unwillingness on the part
of ESB personnel (o confront or even acknowledge the issuc of the visk” and “rather
that such risk as there was should not be discussed publicly” and “the risk should be
down-played”. The ACT submits that the preferable and more likely position was that
the same level of risk was not agreed (sce above), and that to ensure an orderly
dissemination of warnings relating to the likely threats, the proper body to 1ssuc those
warnings was the ESB. 1t is further submitted that there is nothing in the evidence -
oral or documentary - which supports the contention thai relevant matiters should be
withheld from the public. Il onc accepts, as counsel assisting do at paragraph 1210,
thai the most reliable source of what occurred was the handwritien noles, the absence
ol any reference to the risk not being discussed publicly or the 1isk being downplayed

strongly indicates that no such discussions were had.

565.  This conclusion is not affected by the reference in one of the notes to “upser”
since that reference is not attribuied in the notes to any person, and indeed the
evidence of the participants was not able to clarify fo whom that description was

directed.

566.  The ACT accepts that with hindsight, better information should have been
provided to provide advice to the Canberra community about preparations that could
be made when some level of risk existed that property to the cast of the firc could be
affeeted by it. The ACT submits that the omission by senior ESB officers Lo provide
such advice resulted from their pereeption of the risk. Regretlably their expeclations
regarding fire control, and the time which might be available to give such advice
closer to the event, were not realised.  For those officers, this was the kind ol
watershed event referred to by Koperberg as being the basis of experience, which
might have fed 1o a different result. Further, the ACT submits that there is no basis o
conclude that this omission was in any way wilful or a conscious atlempt to withhold
such information (Lucas-Smith T1207, Castle T1693). lhe difficulty in providing

watnings o the community when the risk of the firc impact is imminent was
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demonstrated by the evidence of Lucas-Smith when he referred to the inability to
issue warnings specific as to when and where the impact might occur.  These
difficulties were recognised by the NSW RIS personnel who gave cvidence
(Crawford and Arthur). A second issue relating (o the effectiveness of warnings given
more proximate Lo the time the [ires might impact was adverted to by Cheney. At
1557-558, he gave evidence that “its very difficult to convey that information in
highly meaningful terms (o residents in urban areas because ... having no experience
with fire... for most of the people, they have a great deal of difficulty understanding
what's being said other than that fire is going fo burn into the area and concepls of
different intensity that some areas are more dangerous than others is very difficuli for
people to understand who haven't had any experience with fire”. Chency also stated
that in his view “advice about what (o do ... would almost have (o be handed out on a

personal basis avound the perimeler by five authorities if they were available™.

567. This is not say that no warnings should have been given; the submission,
however, is that no reliable conclusions can be drawn as to what members of the
community would have done if warnings had been disseminated through the media.
Further, no reliable conclusion can be drawn as to the extent that foss and damage
could have been prevented, save perhaps for personal posscssions thal those who

decided 1o leave could have taken with them.

568.  In relation to paragraphs 1247 — 1250, counsel assisting refer o and comment
upon the way in which McRae viewed the process of activaling warnings to the
public. Great emphasis is placed upon his usc of the terms “we made decisions” about
the fire activity and the triggers needed Lo activate warnings.  The assertion seems o
he that this cvidences a conscious decision or agreement (o decline to warn the
Canberra public. McRae’s cvidence read fairly does nol support that conclusion. At
13353, McRac sialed that he was not involved direetly or indirectly with the media.
Further, he stated that his communications with Castle and Lucas-Smith about the

issue of warnings were:

Not a direct discussion. Briefing during the planning meetings and on other
QCCASIONS, ...
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569.  The reference lo “decisions”™ is at T3358/9. The relerence fo “we” in the
response al the top of 13359 is dirceted 1o the activities of (hose in the planning
scelion about (ire predictions. The further 1cference at 13359 to “discussions ... (in)
the planning meetings” must refer to his conveying to thal meeting the decisions of

the planning unit about predictions and forecasts ol the fires.

570.  The ACT submits that the proper and rcasonable construction of the evidence
is that the predictions were discussed at the Planning Meeting and based on the
perceived lack of immediate threat (as they believed on 15 January), the occasion for
warnings had not arisen (that occasion being nominated by McRac at 13361). There 18
no evidence from cither of them that Lucas-Smith participated in any deeision with
McRae to the asserted effect, let alone that their course of conduct was intended to
- deprive Canberra residents of information that they believed should have bcen

conveyed.

571.- At paragraphs 1216(a) and 1315, counsel assisting criticise the ESB’s decision
making about warnings on the grounds that the ESB treated warnings as a public
relations exercise, rather than part of its operational response to the fires. The
evidentiary basis for this criticism is apparently three matters, although this is not

cntirely clcar.

572, The first maiter is the reference in the handwritten notes of the morning
Planning Meeting of 14 January 2003 to the discussion of the comments ol Cheney.
The ACT submits that nothing in those notes gives rise (o any inference other than
that the Cheney comment was a polential media issue — as it clearly was - and that the
source of warnings should be the VSB. Any [urther inference that community

information and warnings were {reated as a public refations excrcise 1S not open.

573.  The second apparent basis for the claim is the cvidence of Gellie to the effect
that “a lot of stress was placed on public relations via media” (LSB.AIP.0111.0308
at paragraph 7). Gellic did not expand further on that issue in his evidence. The
apparent context of his comments however does not support the inference sought to be
drawn here. Ti appears that thc comment was given in responsc L0 a question

concerning the cffectiveness of operational communications with, inter ahia, the
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public. Tis point was not that such cfforts were a public relations exercise but that
creafing a string of local networks was a more effective means of conveying

information fo the public.

574, Vhe third apparent basis is the enlry in the morning Planning Mceting Minutes
of 15 January relating 1o the fact that cerfain positive aspects should be made public.
As Castle made clear at T1541, (and counscl assisting apparcnily agreed that “ro

doubt that it is appropriate ") the legitimale purpose behind such publicity was:

There was value in people being recognised for the efforts they have
actually done in a positive sense.

The weakness in this assertion is emphasised by the (act that there is only one instance
in the 10 days under consideration when matters of this kind arose. A cursory
analysis ol the media releases and media reports makes plain that these successes
were put forward as an exception to a general paltern of bad news, namely that day
alter day ESB was unable fo contain the fires, and was saying so.

(HPP.DPP.0004.0004 Castle interview)

575. ESB also knew the forccasts were for worsening weather and thus the
prospects of it bringing the fires under control were bad, and Castle was saying so
(DDP.DDP.0004.0003 Castle inferview). On 13, 15 and 17 January 2003, Castle
made formal 1equests for Commonwealth assistance and broadcast the fact that LSB

had made those requests on the media (DPP.DPP.0003.0468, AFP.GSO.0005.0373).

576. The ACT submits that this evidence represents no basis at all on which to
conclude that the dissemination of information in the cntire 10 days was {reated

merely as a public relations exercisc.

577.  Such a characterisation is unfair and fails to acknowledge that personnel at
LS worked extraordinarily long hours during the fires in an ultimately unsuccesstul
effort (o keep on top of the innumerable tasks that had to be done as events unlolded
with increasing speed, diversity and complexity.  Lucas-Smith and Castle, in

particular, had substantial and numerous tasks to perform, including attending media
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conferences speaking with journalists and causing media releases to be issued in order
10 keep the public informed. To suggest these cfforts werc no more than a “public

relations exercise” devalucs that cifort and is not warranted.

578 Lucas-Smith and Castle were acutely aware of the need (o keep the public
informed. It was not done well, as both men acknowledged (Lucas-Smith 11046~
1048. Castle T1572-1573, 1845-1846), but they did so to the best ol their ability bascd

upon Lhe knowledge and expecetations that they held at the time.

579. Al paragraph 1218, counsel assisting arc critical of Lowe and [arvey for being
“nol adequately equipped for” ithe role of drafiing and formaftting messages o the
community. Lowe was employed by ESB to underiake a varicty of tasks including
media related activities (026 TROC NDPP.DPP.0003.0408). There is no suggestion
that she failed (o discharge those dutics other than competently. Harvey was co-opted
from the Chief Minister’s Department to assist at the 1SB on 10/11 January 2003
(ESB.AFP.0111.0196 at paragraph 16 and 17). Like the great majority of those
involved in the fires of 2003, neither of those persons had significant experience in
handling the media requirements in a large fire event. Tt s indicative of the limilations
of a jurisdiction like the ACT, that the assistance of a variety of persons, is required in

these circumstances.

580. 1L was clear from their evidence that Lowe and arvey were to carry out their
tasks in 2003 under the supervision of primarily Castle and sometimes Lucas-Smith. Tt
was expected that such material as they produced would be checked by those
supervisors. In the light of these matiers, it is unduly harsh to be critical of then
efforts. An effect of doing so is to discourage those who may in the future consider

giving assistance, not to do so.

6.5 Koperberg discussion — 15 January 2003

581,  Counscl assisting rely upon the evidence surrounding a discussion between

Koperberg and Lucas-Smith on 15 January 2003 to found their assertion that the fires,
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al that time, represented a genuine threat o urban Canberra and that this knowledge

ought to have founded a warning to the Canberra community.

582 Counsel assisting, in their review ol the evidence concerning (he meeting,
make much of the different formulations of the content of the conversation on the part
ol Tucas-Smith (counsel assisting submissions paragraphs 581-586).  Koperberg
similarly provided a number of dilTerent formulations concerning whalt was said at the
meeting (counsel assisting submissions paragraphs 592-601, NRF.DPP.0001.0014 and
Koperberg 12088-2095 and 12103-2109).

583 What is plain from the summary of the evidence in the submisstons by counscl
assisting is that at the time of giving their evidence cach of them gave dilferent

versions of the conversation, particularly in relation to:

e  Whether Koperberg mentioned his view that the western suburbs of Canberra
were at risk (Lucas Smith says not at T1037 -and Koperberg, though his
statement says otherwise, admitted in his cvidence that it was likely he did not
al T2092-2093. Crawford says he did not at 14491);

e  Whether (lorid terms such as “hammered” were used in conncetion with
Canberra during thal conversation (Lucas Smith says not at T1042, and
Koperberg made no such comment until much later and could not attribuic it
{o any person: 12106/2108. Crawlord could not remember when or where that
comment had been made at 14495/906).

e lhe ferms of the request for assistance and the purpose for which they were
requested (Lucas-Smith states he required the NSW resources (o assist in
keeping the ACT fires contained to the west of the Cotter at T1039; Koperberg
said he was asked for help because “the ACT's resources would be insufficient
in the eveal of the fire impacting upon Canberra and ils suburbs”
(NRE.DPP.0001.0014 at paragraph 11)

o  Whether Koperberg said it was his view that the containment lines would

morc than likely be breached at 12091-2092 (as (o this see below).

584.  Quitc clearly both T.ucas-Smith and Koperberg, in what may be categorised as
an honest attempt Lo recall the words of their conversation 1n excess of a ycar belore,
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have recounted what they said against the background of what they were thinking at
that time. Al times it was unclear whether the cvidence given by the witnesses was a

reflection of their thought processes or content of the conversation.

585, As it transpired the significant difference between the positions of Fucas-
Smith and Koperberg appears not to be what was said about there being a risk to
urban Canberra, but the likelihood and immediacy of that risk cventuating based upon
the question of the anticipated level of success of the containment mcasures by NSW

RES.

586, [Lucas-Smith said in his statement “f then asked him [Koperberg] what his
level of confidence was in relation the Melntyre’s Hut five, and he, My ( sifligan and
My Arthur expressed great confidence they had the fire contained and that it was not

voing to be an issue for the ACT”. (ESB.AFP.0100.0551 at paragraph 82)

587 At 11032 Lucas Smith gave the (ollowing evidence:

Q. So the significant feature in the conversalion
that you had with My Koperberg was that

Mr Koperberg was telling you Mclntyre's Hud five
was contained and it would not be an issue fo

the ACT?

A Melntyre's Lt fire was contained on

the southern and eastern boundaries.

The south-cast corner was the area that was of
concern to us for the ACT

588.  In cvidence al Y1049 Tucas-Siith gave the following evidence:

O I presume what you intended (o

convey in paragraph 82 of your statement was that
what vou were being (old was, as far as the ACT
was concerned, it needn't be concerned aboul

the effect on the ACT from Mclatyre's Ll Is

that a fair summary of your impression from

Mr Koperberg's -

A Yes.

Q. And that that was his opinion or thal was
the opinion of people in his (cam?
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A Yes

589 As (o this issuc Conigan, at T4680 pave the following evidence:

Q. Do you recall anvthing being said more
generally about the prospect of containing or
keeping - holding the five, 1 suppose would be the
ferm, within the containment lines?

A Tthink the IMT was quite confident of
maintaining the fire within the containment lines,
especially if they could get some depth (o

hurnings before the bad weather which was forecast
on the weekend.

590.  Arthur, at T4592/92 gave the (ollowing evidence:

Q. Mr Lucas-Smith's account of being told that

the Mclnryre's fire was contained and that it

wouldn't be an issue for the ACT; do you recall

that being said to him?

A I can't agree with that, sir. We didn't

achieve containment until somewhere near 2000

hours thai evening  We anticipated if was going

to be contained. Owr_expeciation then was we would_maiptain i there
(ecmphasis added)

591. It is not possible to determine preciscly the words uscd at the meetimg on 15
January 2003. However, Koperberg is an experienced person who expressed cerlain
views concerning the immediacy of the risks which might eventuate it the Mclntyre’s
Tlut fire was not contained. The ACT submits that he did not express those views (o
Lucas-Smith, but laler in a public statement {o the press. In any evenl, [Lucas-Smith
agreed, in principle, with the view that uncontained, the Melntyre’s Tt fire could

rcach Canberra (T1035-1036).

592, Koperberg was not, however, closely involved m the operations at the
Melniyre’s Tlut fire. e arrived in Queanbeyan on 15 January 2003 and had just
reccived a bricfing from his senior operational fire personnel.  The person who
provided that bricling, Arthur, confirmed during his evidence that optimism was
expressed concerning the establishment of containment lines (T4592). This was also

confirmed by Corrigan (14680). Lucas-Smith had available to him the opinion of
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members of NSW RES expressed durmg the meeting at Queanbeyan.  The views of
the operational personnel involved in Mclntyre’s 1lut fire accorded with his own

that there were reasonable expectations concerning containment.

593, The NSW RFS sitnation report prepared for the Melntyre™s Hut lire afier the
meeting and discussions which {ook place on 15 Fanuary 2003 (1600 on 15 January
2003) states the risk in a manncr which is not inconsistent with Lucas-Smith’s

understanding:

THREAT ANALYSIS

Current Threat” Fire no threat to life and property at present fime while in
containment lines. The five stll poses a

threat to the ACT, if it escaped from the current confainment lines

Potential Threat: Major Pine plantations in the ACT and to the ACT water
catchments Private property to the

North and Fast, and Pine plantations to the south and stale forest (o the west

594, The ACT submits that any differences between the evidence of Koperberg and
lucas-Smith as to the conversation are not significant. It is clear from the summary
above that whether or not Koperberg cffectively conveyed the level of his concerns
for Canberra, Lucas-Smith had his own view of this matter  a view not dissimilar to

the NSW personnel involved in the suppression eftorts at the Mclntyre™s Hut fire.

6 0 Other developments on the affernoon of 15 January

595. Al paragraphs 1224 — 1230, counsel assisting rely upon: Castle’s second and
third requests for Commonwealth assistance, Castle’s Cabinet bricling document,
McRae’s “do the maths” comments during the afiernoon planning mecting and
Graham’s telephone discussion with Byrnes on 15 January 2003- among other things
that occurred on the afternoon of 15 January 2003- as grounds for submitling that by
the late alternoon or evening of 15 January 2003, Lucas-Smith, Casile, McRac and
scemingly Graham recognised that the fires represented a risk to the Canberra urban

arei.
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596.  Castle gave cvidence aboul the form of words used in the Second and third
Requests for Commonwealth Assistance and in particular thal the forccast weather
was “causing concern for the ACT wrban environment” (T15431f). He accepted that
his degree of concern was no longer small, having regard to the potential for a wind
change but that the documents do not take into account “what s the success before
they(11543). Ylis view was therefore not dissimilar to that of Lucas-Smith who felt
that “we sfill had potential for intervention if we got the resources thal we

needed(110406).

597. It was put to Tucas-Smiih that the risk to the Canberra urban area was “a
distinct possibility if certain things happened’(11046) and he accepted that with
westerly winds the fire “certainly had the potential to impact” southern Canberra and
the rural properties (T1046/7). Lucas-Smith aceepted that the responsibility for lack ot

warnings at that time was his (11047).

598. It appears that Lucas-Smith and Castle held the view that the prospects of
“certain things” happening were greater than they ultimately proved to be. The ACL
submits that those officers recognised the potential for the fire to impact but did not

consider that the risk was as imminent as the cvents proved.

599 The factis that a scerious risk (o Canberra was not apparent to any of the ESB’s
senior personnel until mid-morning on 18 January 2003. The potential for the fires (o
reach the urban edge had been recognised well before 15 January 2003, as discussed
above. The events of 15 January 2003 relied on by counsel assisting confirm that
knowledge. However, that does not translate into a “faifure”™ to warn people ol that
risk, as submiticd by counscl assisting. Firstly, it was recognised as a potential
occurrence, and had been for some time, but dependent upon various contingencies
being realised. Secondly, the potential was understood in ferms of a fire event wholly

different to what occurred. Your Honour should so find.
600. A number of disparate cvents make it apparent that no one on the alternoon of

15 or on 16 January 2003 perccived the risk of the fires reaching Canberra as

“serious”, or the likely impact - if the fires did reach Canberra — as “serious™.
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601.  Several examples can be given, including the three circumstances on which

counsel assisting rcly.

602, The Cabinet briefing did not prompt any of those present Lo consider the fires
reaching Canberra as a real possibility (sec Stanhope 13631, Tonkin T4242-4243). 1t
is untcnable to suggest otherwise. The point of the briefing was (o inform the various
members of Cabinet about what was happening and what could be expected in the
short and in the longer term. I seems reasonably clear that the focus of the bricling
was upon the valuable asscts of the ACT then considered (o be at risk. The fact that no
issue about warnings to the Canberra urban residents was raised at or as a
consequence of (hat bricfing can only be explained by the absence ol any recognition

of the real or imminent need to do so.

603.  The Fire Brigade was bricfed for operational purposes and to permit them lime
to make contingency plans in the event that their infervention was required. Although
thesc briefings indicate that there was a raised level of concern, it should not be
concluded that TSB officials belicved that the impact o the urban edge would occur
by 18 January. ‘The bricfing was to forewarn. them that they might later have a role in
what had hitherto been a raral bushfire for which it bore no operational responsibility.
(Bennett T1910-1911). Collins recalled Lucas-Smith “warning that there was a
possibility that these fires could impact upon the urban infrastructure”. He did so, not
in the context of warning them that a fire event of the magnitude which ensued might
oceur, but to forewarn the I'ire Brigade of a possible operational responsibility (TROC

049-52, ESB.AFP.0049.0274).

604  The Tire Commissioner, Bennetl, attended the Planning Mectings on 10 fo 12
Javuary and 14 to 18 January (Bennett statement AFP.AFP.0110.0330 at paragraphs
24,25, 30, 32, 37, 39 and 45). He was a party to the bricfing by Lucas-Smith to the
Fire Brigade on 16 January (AFP.AFP.OT10.0330 at paragraph 34). His statement
makes plain that he was present at the meeting on 18 JTanuary. No onc was better
placed to recognise the potential of the fires, as explained af the various meetings,

than a person such as Bennelt.

605.  Bennetl’s evidence as to what he did that morning is as follows:
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Although the increased [ire danger was recognised, there was no specific
indication that the fires would impact on the suburbs of Canberva that day
(although the potential of fire runs from Melntryes and Tidbinhilla was
discussed during the morning bricfing), About mid-morning, I travelled to my
parents' home al Warragamba Avenue, Duffy, to check on how they were. My
parents at that stage were aged in their mid-70s and I had noi seen them for a
couple of days. At this time, many people in the streel were filling their gutfers
with water and clearing away general debrvis. I was concerned that there was
nobody to do this for my parents so 1 did this task while at Duffyv. However, T
had no real sense that the fires were to hit Canberra later that day.. I ceriainly
would not have lefi my parents there had I realised this. In fact, I assured them
that ihe fires were still some distance away and that T saw no real tmmediate
risk to them . (ATP.AYP.0110.0330 at paragraph 48)

606.  The ACT submits that Bennett’s evidence as to what he did on 18 January, is
the most rcliable basis from which to infer the state of his knowledge of the
immediacy of the threat of impact .i.c. that he “had no real sense that the fires were (o
hit Canberra later that day” 1t therefore follows that the immediacy of (he threat
could not have been conveyed to him in earlier mectings.  Otherwise, his actions on

18 January 2003 defy logic.

607. At the alternoon planning meeting on 15 January 2003, McRae made his “do
the maths” predictions in front of approximately 40 persons (Lucas-Smith 1'1148)
including all the members of the SMT and other persons such Bennelt and Keady. Tle
said to various people that he thought an impact on the urban arca by Monday was
“Jikely”(McRac 13344-3345). However, that did not prompt any suggestion from
anyone that the public should be informed about any serious risk of an impact upon
arban Canberra. That circumstance can only be explained by no one appreciating an

imminent risk requiring warnings then and there.

608.  Lastly, Graham described an impact upon Canberra as “not beyond possibility”

but that did not prompt Bymes (o act differently regarding the interests of the AFP.

609.  These observations are not to criticise Byrnes, McRac, Bennctt, or anyonc

clse. Rather, they illustrate a lack of appreciation by those persons and, by inference,
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others who were privy to the knowledge held by IISB officers that cvents might

unfold as they did or (o warn the public about that possibility.

610. At paragraph 1230, counsel assisting assert that had a warning of the kind
issucd by Jelfrey on 15 January been given, “much of the injury and properly loss and
damage resulting from the fires, would have been avoided”. The ACT submits that
such a finding cannot be made. Jeflrey’s watning was dirceted to rural residents some
of whom had properties in arcas adjacent to the forests from which the fires would
come; the situation of the residents of urban Canberra was that their propertics were
more distant (rom the fircs and somewhat less exposed. Sceondly, Jeflrey warned of
“the verv real possibility that these fires would break out of the mountains ... this
could happen on Monday or Tuesday”. If that time frame had been conveyed.
considerable doubt exisis as to what urban residents would have done by 18 January

2003 and the extent that injury and damage would have been avoided.

611, Tt should also be borne in mind that it was common knowledge that the [(ire
had been burning for 10 days and 86% of persons surveyed said that as a result of pre-
scason information provided by ESB, they knew what to do in the event of a bushfire

(sce statement of Watson ESB.DPP.0O013.0234).

612, Even those residents who informed and well-prepared, such as the residents of
Chauvel Cireuit, Chapman, were unable to prevent the severe impacts of wind and fire

on their residences.

6.7 The decision to defer a warning (o the public

613. At paragraph 1231 — 1238, counsel assisting submit the Cabinel was bricted
aboul a potential scrious risk of impact on Canberra’s urban edge, but that Lucas-
Smith  probably with the concurrence of Castle - -had “determined” that “the public

would not be told that there was a serious risk™ of an impact on the Canberra suburbs.

614.  The ACT submits that such a serious {inding cannot and should not be made

based on the weak evidence said to support it. A proposition in those terms was not
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put to cither witness and therelore it should rejected on that ground alone. Scecondly, it
appears to be conceded that there are no or only “obscure reasons™ for such an
agreement or concurrence — it is temarkable that such serious allegation is made in the
face evidence by those witnesses that they did not appreciate the risk, i the absence
of any motive to do such a serious thing. Finally, the submission is made on the basis
that their knowledge of the claimed “serious risk of impact” has been conceded or
established. In fact the contrary is true. That cvidence is referred to above in the

context of the Requests for Commonwealth Assistance.

6.7 1 Cabinet briefing

615. In rclation to the claims made in this scetion of the submissions, the ACT
submits that there is simply no evidence capable of supporting the scrious allegations
made against the Chicl Minister and others. ‘The Chicl Minister and members of
Cabinct are sworn Lo act in the best interests of the ACT and its community.
Consislent with that undertaking, they would have as their primary concern in an
event such as-this, the wellare ol the community, lhe premise on which the
unsustainable allegations arc made, that Cabinet might or would withhold information
[rom the Canberra community, defics logic. This is so because it assumes that Cabinet
would act conlrary fo its dutics to the ACT. There is no conceivable motive and no

evidence is advanced for this extraordinary proposition.

616. At paragraph 1233 and 1234, reference is made to the Cabinet bricling
document (DPP.DPP.0003.0078) and its reference to the potential for impacts on the
urban arca. The first reference in the document has only heen partly quoted by counsel

assisting and is therefore misleading, The full reference s as follows:

Melntyre's Fire to the northwest has secure containment lines to the south and
east following hack burning operations. However, with stronger winds from
the north-west there is always the potential for spotting over the containment
lines which has potential serious impact to ACT Forest pines and subsequently
the urban area
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617.  The ACT submits that the omitted reference to secure containment lines,
whilst providing no absolute guarantee that that firc may not causc problems, is
centrally relevant to the degree of risk to any ACT asscts. [t would have provided any
(‘abinct member who read the document considerable conflidence that the fire could
be controlled. Sceondly, a plain reading ol the words indicates that the “potential
serious impact” refers o the risk to the pines. This is clearly so having regard to the
proximity of the omitted words to the pines; it is also the only rcasonablc inference
having regard to the fact that al that time, the fire was close to the pines and a
considerable distance form the urban arca. Finally. the position of the reference Lo the

“urban edse” later on in the document confirms this construction.

618 1he second reference to the urban cdge in the document 1s as fotlows:

Assets under potential threat
These include.
o (Colter catchment area.
o ACT pine forest planiations.
e [solated communications infrastructure.
o Tidbinbillu Nature Reserve
e Tidbinbilla Tracking Station
o Rural Leases.
o Urban edge.
o Saved

This appears to list assets al risk in descending order of the risk. A reader would be
most likely to infer that, of the asscts listed, the urban edge - whilst under potential
threat - was the least threatened asset. It is submitted that the references in the notes to

the suburbs at risk should be understood in this context.

619. The ACT thercfore submits that Cabinct were not told, as is asscried by
counsel assisting, that there was a serious rigk the fires would impact upon the suburbs
of Canberra {(counsel assisting submissions paragraph 1237). So much is clear from

the analysis of the document above.

620.  T.ucas—Smith in his evidence considered that:
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“I would have thought that if Twas making a statement to Cabinel,
and T thousht that the most sexious potential for impact on urban
edae existed, 1 would have made it far more prominent than make it
the second last dot point.” (T1083)

621.  Castle gave cvidence that the urban edge referred to was a reference to the
Macgregor Power substation. This evidence was consistent with that eiven by the
Chicl Minister (Stanhope 13606). The evidence concerning the need o declare a State

of Emergency was with reference to the same power infrastructure.

622, At the time of the Cabinet bricling the threat was variously described by those
present as not “a probability™ and a “pofential serious possibility” (Kcady T3510 and
13491), as somcthing that may occur “eventually, if infervention failed” and “the
potential existed” (Lucas-Smith at 11062 and 1060), and as a “theoretical possibility
thai the fire would advance 1o the urban edge” (Stanhope 13611). None ol these
formulations equate to a serious risk of an impact on the suburbs of Canberra, as put
forward by counsel assisting (counsel assisting submissions paragraph 1231). Tonkin
said that to the best of his recollection the prospect of a risk to the suburbs was not

discussed (14243-4)

623.  Contrary lo the submissions of counscel assisting, the Cabinet briefing
document and the contemporaneous notes taken at the briefing (DPP.DPP.0003.0269,
CDPP.DPP.0003.0266, DPP.DPP.0001.0104) are consistent with the evidence given by
the Chicf Minister and also by the other attendees at the Cabinet bricfing who gave

evidence.

624. Al paragraph 1237, counscl assisting criticise the cvidence given by the C “hief
Minister as being “difficult 1o accept”. 1f this should be understood as a contention
that the evidence of the Chicl Minister ought not be accepted, that assertion should be

rejected.

625.  No attempt is made by counsel assisting (o identify with any preeision what
part of the Chiel Minister’s evidence, incompletely summarised by counscl assisting
in paragraph 1236, is cither difficult to accept or ought not be aceepled. Once again it

is regrettable that such serious claims are made in such a general fashion.
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626.  The proposilion is put at paragraph 1237 that “if was no doubt tempting lo
reduce the impact of the discussion aboul risk to Canberra” having regard to what
later occurred. It does counsel assisting no eredit to advance such a proposition in this
vague manmner. If it is an allack on the credibility of anyone involved, it should be
rejected as there is no evidence to support it, nor is any evidence referred o,

627.  Turther if it is suggesied that this somehow evidences a decision by Cabinet to
wilhhold information, thai proposition should be rejected. Tn any cvent, the atlached
Cabinet Minute, which notes that a public information system had been put in place
and would be activated as required, gives lic (o the notion that Cabinet or the olficers

bricfing Cabinet were determined to withhold information from the public.

628 The ACT submits that it is surprising and regrettable that an extraordinary
allegation that the evidence of the Chief Minister of the Australian Capital Territory
ought not be accepted is made on this tenuous basis. It is especially so when there 1s
no compeling evidence o that of the Chief Minister and that the contention was never
put to him in the witness box. It should also be rejected on the substantive basis that
therc is no sufficicnt proof to cslablish such a scrious allegation (cf Briginshaw v

Briginshaw).

629.  There is no objective reason for the actual and implied criticisms of the Chiel
Minister by counsel assisting in the submissions. The evidence of the Chicl Minister
is consistent with the evidence given by other witnesses. The criticisms made by

counscl assisting are unfair, without foundation and without support.

630. At paragraph 1235, counscl assisting refer to Keady in his evidence as
“protesting a continuing lack of recollection on important issues”. It this is to be
understood as an attack on Keady's credibilily, then it is highly rcgrettable and
improper that counscl assisting only make such an allegation indirectly, without
permitling the witness to respond to that assertion. This appears to be a further
example of counsel assisting making indirect critical comments about a witness being
unable o recall matters which, upon their analysis, have assumed importance in this
Inquiry.
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6.7.2 Midday Press Conference

631, Your Honour should reject the submission at paragraph 1239 that Lucas-Smith
“was not felling the truth” when he stated at the midday press conference on 16
January 2003 that “Af the moment I don’t think there’s any threat (o the urban areas.”
Counscl assisting concede at paragraph 710 that he was nol questioned about (hose
comments because the transeript was nol available, but state that he was asked about
them in the context of a Canberra Times article on 17 January 2003, At 1090, Lucas-
Smith was asked whether that was his genuine state of mind and he agreed. It was
never put to him that he was not telling the truth and it is submiited that there is a

significant unfairness in making that submission in these circumstances.

632, In any event, the comment was consistent with- not “in stark contrasi” lo- the

o

bricfing he gave to Cabinct carlier that day. The threat to Canberra was contingent
upon .scvcml occurrences. “Af the moment” when Lucas-Smith spoke at the press
conference, none of those contingencics had materialised. The same day, NSW RFES
issued a media release staiing  that “the  control lines are  complete”
(NSE.ALP.0047.0407).  The phrasing is open to different interpretations, but that
arises from diflerent constructions of the word “threar”. Tucas-Smith’s evidence

about his understanding of the immediacy of the threats should be accepted.

633. 1t must also be noted that Koperberg and Wade from the NSW RES used
similar language on 17 January 2003 when deseribing the fire threat, and no assertion

was made against them that they were “nof telling the truth”.
634.  Mr Wade said:

“Ai this stage, there is no threat fo any property in the area, it is more those
pine planiations we 're keeping a close eye on.” (DPP.DPP.0003.0476 at 0480)

635.  Lucas-Smith’s opinion about the threat at that time was genuinely held, and he
should not now be taken to task for polential ambiguity in wording uscd “on the run’

in the course of a media interview,
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636. AL paragraph 1240 counsel assisting assert that “it is inconceivable that”
I.ucas-Smith would expect to be understood in the midday press conference as
referring only to threats from the ACT fires. The ACK submits that a fair reading of
the transeript of that press conference strongly supports Lucas-Smith’s position in this
regard.  The press conference commenced with Tucas-Smith giving a report on the
Bendora and Stockyard fires, afier which he took a number of questions. The first
question related (o the possible evacuation of residences in the Brindabella Valley

region and T.ucas-Smith responded by stating “vou need to ask NSW that”,

637. ‘lhe next subject matler of the questions was the extent to which the Bendora
firc had progressed. 1he third subject matter was a similar question in relation to the
Stockyard Spur fire. It was in conncclion with that latter question that 1.ucas-Smith

made the comment about his views on the threat to the urban arcas.

638.  'I'he next question which was posed to Lucas-Smith concerned the Melntyre’s

Flut five.

639.  This sequence of questions clearly evidences the proposition that Lucas-Smith
was responding to questions aimed at specific fires and the relevant response upon

which counsel assisting now rely related to the Stockyard Spur fire.

640,  Comment may be made aboul Lucas-Smith’s lack ol media skills in not
seizing the opportunify Lo give an update about the Melntyre’s Iut fire, assuming that
he knew the position in regard to that fire In the light of this analysis, 1t 1s
disingenuous of counsel assisting to asscrt the proposition that Lucas-Smith was not

only referring to the ACT fires.

6.7.3 Briefing to the ACT Fire Brigade

641. AL paragraphs 1241-1244, counsel assisting makes submissions about the
bricfing to ACT Fire Brigade and ACT Ambulance and the perecived confidential

nature ol the bricfing.
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642, 1t was appropriate for Tucas-Smith o be dircct with operational personnel
about his perception of the risk that the fires would breach their containment lincs and
run towards Canberra. It is also commonplace for such briclings (o be comprehensive
and to address contingencies that might never arise.  The bricfing was made o
professional emergency workers o cnable them to prepare, operationally, (or those
possibilities. It is not uncommeon for such briefings to be more detailed than bricfings
oiven to the public, cspecially where the briefings involve issues and occurrences
expressed as possibilities that might never arisc (Collins 1ROC, gns 48 — 52,

ESB AP .0049.0274).

643. In making the submission at paragraph 1244 that your Honour should
conclude that Lucas-Smith was “serious™ when he stated that he did not want to alarm
the public and that the information provided to the briefing should not be revealed,
counsel assisting rely upon a selection of witnesses.  For example, Cartwright,
Mecleary and Barr are relied upon (o support the proposition; other witnesses such as
Bennett, Dutton and Collins do not give the same level of support to thesc

propositions.

644.  Lucas-Smith stated in evidenee that this was a discussion amongst firelighters,
involving “a fair bit of free discussion”™ and humour. However, he also slated that he
could not understand the logic of his making such sialements to a large group of

(irefighters in the expectation that such material was to remain confidential (T1074).

645, The ACT submits that in light of these competing versions, the scope for a
genuine misunderstanding was very real and the more likely situation is that the
difference in the cvidence arises from such a misunderstanding. A reasonable
construction ol what occurred was that Lucas-Smith conveyed fo those fircfighters his
desire that any information disseminated to the public should be by the ESB, as was
discussed in relation to the Cheney comments on 14 January 2003, As was carlier
submitted in relation to the latter event, no sinister connotations should be drawn from

this understandable objective.
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646. At paragraphs 1245-1246, counscl assisting makes submissions about an
insufficient bricfing to the AIP. ‘The Territory does not dispute that those brielings
were inadequate, however counsel assisling’s consequent submissions at paragraphs
1246(h)-(c) about what the AFP “would have” done arc cntirely speculative,
[xcepling, perhaps, an earlicr activation of the Police Operations Centre, the course
that the AFP “would have™ taken is unknown and should not be judged by relerence to
best practice responses assessed after the event, and in the context of what Tater

occurred.
6.7.0 The Situation ai the end of 16 January

647. At paragraph 1251 counscl assisting are critical of Lucas-Smith in that “/e
apparently chose not to” inform the Canberra community of the threat posed by the
Melntyre’s Hut fire. ‘The transeript of that interview commences with a guestion to
Tucas-Smith regarding the situation of the Namadgi Bushfires. [t is folerably clear
i:hal. [ucas-Smiih was responding to questions about the ACT fires. The criticism that
he chose not to go further in those circumstances is entircly unwarranted, especially as
Lucas-Smith himsclf conceded that he was not a skilled media performer (Lucas-

Smith T1128).

648 Had the latcst NSW RFS press release been available o him, the information
in it was that lines would be pressured and the fire forced to the ACT border. The
ACT submits that even that formulation ol words would not be such as to bring home

to the Canberra community a real and imminent risk of impact on the urban cdge.

649. At paragraph 1252, counsel assisting make the submission that Lucas-Smith
(as well as Castle and McRac) seriously and deliberately omitted to impart to the
Canberra public their knowledge of the risk of lire impact. That submission is partly
based on Lucas-Smith’s interview at Spm on 16 January 2003. The ACT submits that
such a proposition should be rejected in light of the fact that Lucas-Smith was doing
his best Lo provide responses for the questions being asked. Furthermore, when cross-
examined about this matter at T1088-108% no such proposition was pul lo Lucas-

Smith to allow him an opportunity to answer it.
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6.8 17 January 2003

650. Tf the submissions of counsel assisling at paragraph 1253 arc intended to
downplay the cffectiveness of the dissemination of warnings by media, that
submission should be rejected.  The local media in Canberra has proven (o be a
valuable means of dissemination of such warnings in the past (2001 fires). In a
jurisdiction the size of ihe ACI, use of the media is a sensible resowrce-efficient
means for conveying the information. 'The article in the Canberra Times headed “Next
five days critical” fairly considered, did convey that the situation confronting the

ACT was scrious.

651.  The article quotes the opinions of Lucas-Smith, Bartlett and Cooper about the
fire danger. The ariicle read as a whole (ESB.AFP.O110.0973) puts the public on
notice about the seriousness of the fires;

i. It opens by noting that, “the weather conditions now facing fire

fighters in the ACT and surrounding NSW were worst than those

that preceded the 1983 Ash Wednesday diaster”.

ii. It notes that in 1983 “the Ash Wednesday fires killed 75 people.
destroyed 2500 buildings and buirnt out close to 400,000 ha”.

iii. It notes that the conditions ACT was facing on 17 January 2003

were “drier than they were af this time in 19837,

iv. It notes that in 1928, 1939 and 1952 fires “burned as for as’ '

Woden™.

v. It quotes Lucas-Smith stating, “the reality is there will always be

ihat fevel that you can’i manage for and that s what we re facing”.

652, The comments of T.ucas-Smiih in this article are almost identical to the words
he used in the midday media conference the preceding day. As was noted carlier in
ithe submission, the comment “At the moment I don't think there is any threaf to the
urban edge of Canberra” was a response to questions about the Stockyard Spur fire.

It is not uncommon i press reports that the entire coniext of given statements arc
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included.  As was suggesied earlicr, it is wrong to be critical of Lucas-Smith in
relation to a comment which was taken out of its proper context and which in its true

context was a correct stalement.

653. If the asscrtion is made that Tucas-Smith knowingly withheld relevant
information from the Canberra community, such a proposition simply cannot siand,
cspecially having regard 1o the last two points in the summary of the article referred to
above. It defies common sense that a person with such intent would refer to past

catastrophies and then state that “that s what we ve facing”.

6.8 2 Morning Planming Meeting

654. At paragraphs 1254 1255, counsel assisting make submissions about the 17
January 2003 morning planning mecting. 'The submissions do not portray the cvents in
any realistic manner. At this point, Lucas-Smith and senior LSB personnel had been
engaged, working fong hours, for some 10 days in fire suppression elforts. It would be
surprising il they were anything other than fatigued and under pressurc and that their
judgment was not impaired by these matters. Tt seems tolerably clear that the focus ol
those persons was on what measures could be taken to suppress the fires, and they
failed to have sufficient rcgard to the very mmportant consideration of issuing
appropriatec warnings (Lucas-Smith [1202). No doubt, if there had been an occasion
to stand back and carcfully review what was being considerced, the issue of warnings

would have been better addressed.

655, The evidence is that a number of BSIB officials and experienced firchghters
maintained optimism that the fires could be controlled or mitigated when they reached
the open grasslands and upon reaching the sct-backs at the urban cdge (Lucas-Smith

11200):

“I had some, 1 believe, reasonable expeciation that some suppression effort
would be successful and there would be some ameliovation of the impact on
the ACT”

Secalso T998 and 11102 and T1184.
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656.  Cheney himself conceded that the setbacks at the wrban edge “provided
Cunberra with the safest interface of any city within the equivalent or higher rainfall

zone anywhere in Australia. Other fire experts agree” (Cheney Report at page 18).

657.  Neil Cooper is amongst the most experienced fire ighters within LS, and
cven he, with 21 years of fire fighting experience including fighting this particular firc
throughout the lire event, held the fiem view through until the morming of 18 January
2003 that:

“I still strongly believe that, once it came out of the plantations or out of the
timber, we would be able to contain it on the grassland”.
(Cooper T4794, 4795)

AL 14823 Cooper said:

“___once [the fires] came out onto the open grazing country which was just
bare dirt, we would be able to undertake successful suppression efforts.”

658. Others experienced firelighters who held a similar view include: Murphy at

[4007; Graham at 12885; Raffacle at T3936-37; and Taylor at 15003.

659.  Senior ESB ofTicials were not the only persons involved in the Janoary 2003
fires who were laken by surprise by the size and magnitude of the actual impacts. For

example, Cooper said, when referring to [ire moving over a heavily grazed paddock:

“ .. the oncoming [flames driven by heat and wind were up lo two melres
high [ remember they were as high as the aerial on my vehicle  The
flames had a depth of greater than 100 metres which is a lot decper than
normal grass fires. I could not believe the height and depth of the
approaching flame froni given that it was burning across heavily grazed
and bare ground. ... |ll .. “had never secn anything like thai
before” (Cooper 14784, 4785)

660. A number of other examples are referred to above (sce “The Extraordinary

Events of 18 January 20037).
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661.  Cheney said:

Q... Did that joiner [sic] of fives add fo
the iniensity of the burn?
A Yes

QO Imwhat way?

A In increasing the spread of the fire
hetween the established patterns of Bendora
and the Mclntyre fire.

Q. Was ihat something that you thought would

happen?
A No

Q. Did that take you by surprise?
A was surprising, yes.

And further he stated that although he expected the fires to merge:

A Texpected them fo merge, buf if's
correct, not in the way in which they did

Q. How did you expect them to merge?

A [expected they would have drawn fogether
the iwo - that the interaction of the two fires
would have drawn them together.

O But when that occurred, did you understand
that the intensity of the fire would then,

thevehy, be greatly increased?

A Not to the extent that it was. You

normally get some increase of intensity when
fires draw together, but not the intensity of

the fire that came through between the two

fires

(Cheney 1510-511).

6.8.3 Midday Press Conference 17 January 2003

662.  In light of the evidence reviewed above your Honour should reject the
submission that at the midday press conlerence Lucas-Smith or Castle thought one
thing about poiential firc behaviour but informed the public of another, or said or
condoned anything they “knew o be false¢” or “knew fo be unsupportable” (counsel

assisting’s submissions at paragraphs 1256-1259 and 1262-1263 respectively).
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663. At paragraphs 1256 io 1259, counsel assisting made a number of criticisms
against Lucas-Smith — (irstly that he “chose to compound the harm done by the
morning’s newspaper” by slating that the risk lo the urban cdge was “prefly slim”.
Sceondly, they appear (o infer that Lucas-Smith was “apparcently careful not to go as
Jar as describing the fires as contained or controlled” and thal he knowingly gave a
false impression that there was a realistic prospect of holding the fires.  They also
assert that the evidence he gave that he was not thinking aboul the Mclntyre’s Hul
firc, when making his comments, was “absurd” and “wholly contrived”. Fmally.
counsel assisiing state thai Lucas-Smith consciously made fine distinctions “fikely fo
he lost on the media and the people present at the conference” for the purpose of

conccaling information (rom the Canberra community.

664.  The transcript of the media conference shows that it occurred in two parts. In
the first part, Castle and Lucas-Smith made statements relating to the fires burning in
Namadgi National Park. There is no mention at alt of the Melntyre’s TTut fire by

ucas-Smith or Castle, nor is there any mention by those officers of the NSW fire.

665.  The sceond part of that media conference was given by a NSW RI'S liaison
officer named Wade. Tle spoke about the NSW fires, including the Mcelntyre’s Hut
lire.  Whether this was done by agreement, arrangement or protocol 1s not clear.
However, il evidences an understanding between the agencies which might be
considered reasonable given the fact that the agency in charge of the fire is most likely
to have the best information about it and measures of suppression being implemented.
This two part form of media conference gives overwhelming support to what is
asserted (o be an absurd proposition namely that Lucas-Smith was only talking about

the ACT [ires.

666.  So understood, Lucas-Smith’s statements about the prospects of the ACT fires
reaching the urban edge being “prefty sfim” arc more understandable.  Counsel
assisting point to the references made in the morning Planning Meeling 1o winds
turning westerly the following day. The lorecast recorded in the planning meeting
minutes for the morning of 17 January 2003 initially deseribed north-west winds

ousling between 45 and 60km, “pulling back to a westerly direction ... an easferly
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change is expected afier 2200 hours”. Vhe refarence in the forecast to strong wind
susts appears 1o be linked o the north-west winds: there is no indication as to when
the winds might pull back to a westerly dircction and, more particularly, when in
relation to the easterly change.  In the light of ihese matters, Lucas-Smith’s
construction of the predominant direction of the winds, whilst not precise, reflected

the substance ol the weather forecast.

667. The truly Machiavellian claim by counsel assisting that Lucas-Smith
consciously relicd upon a distinction which was likely to be lost on the media, in the

face of the above evidence, 1s unsustainable.

668, When making judements about the aceuracy or otherwise ol the comments
made by the S officials concerning the ACT [ires, it is instructive to have regard 1o
how their NSW counterparts dealt with the perceived threat emanating from the

Meclntyre’s Hut fire. Wade said during the course of the media conference:

The Mclntrye 1t fire burning (o the direct west of Canberra in NSW, now
hurnt out some 8,000 heciares is also still burning within containment lines
although the containment lines on the south eastern side are only very small
readly, their 500 meter’s or so in depth and we are expecting those to be fested
fairly extensively today. Alveady the wind conditions up in that area have
strengthened from the north west, which means fire crews al the moment on
the south eastern side of the Mclntyres Hut fire are working very hard as we
speak at the moment to try and contain those containment flines. The fire is
about 2 kilometer's from pine plantations in the ACT. We do have resources
on the edee of the border there and on the edge of the pine planiations. At this
stage also some 13 aircraft are working in the arca, keeping a very close eye
oul for spot fires and so forth At this stage there is nol threat (o any property
in the area, it Is more those pine plantations we're_keeping a close eve on.
(cmphasis added)

669 The ACI notes that counscl assisting make no criticism of Wade for
qualifying his opinion that “there is not threat to any property” with the words “at this
stage”. The ACT does not assert that Wade was evasive or intending to withhold any
information; as it does not assert that T.ucas-Smith was evasive when using the words

“at the moment” in previous media conferences.
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670.  Further, the statement by Wade that “there is not threal 1o any property in the
area” has resonance with the impugned commenis of Lucas-Smith and other ESB
officials about their perception of the risk to the Canberra urban edge at various times.
Even Wade’s comments about the perceived threat to the pines is not couched in

terms such as a serious or immediate threat.

671, Similarly, the NSWRFES media rclease for 1200 on 17 January 2003 makes
reference to:

Containment lines are complete on this fire, however, they will be fested foday.
There is currently no immediaie threat fo any property  Firefighters are
concerned that strong wind gusts could cause spot overs which could impact
major pine plantations in the ACT.

(NRT.DPP.0001.0019)

672, The ACT aceepts that it was no part of the responsibilitics of the NSW RES fo
be issuing warnings to the Canberra community. However, it is noteworthy, given
that the release doces refer to property, that no comment is made about threats fo the
urban area. Furthermore, the manner in which the level of risk to property and the
pincs is referred to does not convey any greater levels of risk than counterpart ESB
pronouncements.  That is, the use of the words “currently no immediate threat lo any

property” are very similar to the “af the moment™ {formulation used by 1ucas-Smith.

673, Wade also said in the media conlerence:

“ . the threat is now to the
southern and eastern sides and of course thal means il's more heading hack
foward the ACT

There is arveal
ihreat to that pine forest bui at this stage everything is holding at the moment

Once again, the level of concern evident in the words “a real threai™ 10 the pines
{when the fire was approximately 2 km from the pines at that point) would, on the

tests urged by counscl assisting for ESB warnings, be somewhat of an understatement.

674. At paragraphs 1260 - 1262, counsel assisting fake Castle to task about the

phrase “the agreement and the protocols™ in paragraph 107 of his statement, referring

194



to an arrangement by which ESB spoke about ACT fires and NSW RI'S spoke about
NSW fircs. The ACT aceepts that the phrase oversiated the formality ol the

arrangement, bul the substance of paragraphs 107 and 108 remains troce.

675.  As a pattern, the various press releases from ST and NSW RES respectively,
and the press conferences given by Lucas-Smith and Castle on one hand, and
Koperberg and Wade, on the other, make clear that this was the arrangement. The fact
that some press rcleases make observations about fires pertaining to  another
jurisdiction, for example an 'SB media release observing thal the smoke blanketing
Canberra was coming (rom the Melntyre’s Tlut fire, does not contradict paragraph

107.

676.  To suggest that Casile concocted a justilication and made wilfully untruc

statements is very serious and should be rejected.

677. The submissions of counscl assisting at paragraph 1263 say that what Lucas-
Smith said at the midday press conference of 17 January 2003 evidences his deeision
“to defer telling the people of the ACT ... the true position” and that Castle
“participated in the deception, either by condoning the decision or not acling to
correct an impression left by My Lucas-Smith .. which Mr Castle knew to be

unsupporiable”.

678, The submission should be rejected, firstly because it was not specilically pul
to cither witness — at T1069 a very general question was asked of T.ucas-Smith about
whether there was a conscious distinetion between what he said in the media about the
risk and what he really belicved. e denied that proposition. No proposition was put
that in consequence he lied to the Canberra community, let alone that he did so on any
specific occasion. As a matter of propricty and fairness, if it was asserted as it now
appears o be, that Lucas-Smith in effect lied to the Canberra public on specific
occasions, the seriousness of those claims demanded that the specific asserted lics be
put to him to allow him the opportunity to respond. What was done at T1069 was of

such a general nature as not to give him a fair opportunity to respond.
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679.  Contrary to the submission by counsel assisting with respeet to Castle, the
evidence at 11691-92 discloses that no proposition remotely like the asscrtion that he
was lying to the public or knew that Lucas-Smith was lying to the public in media

conferences was put to him.

680.  Sccondly, no realistic motive is suggested for such a deception. Iinally, even
if there was some perceived molive about not inducing panic in the public, Lucas-
Smith’s reference in that media conference to those who “live adjacent to Namadyi
National Park in any way, you need lo be making sure that you have ilaken
precautions around the property ... or if you'll stay or if you'll evacuate ...” belics
any intention to prevent panic in a situation where there was a clear threal o a

definable location evident to him. (DPP.DPP.0003.0476)

681. AL paragraph 1265 counsel assisting adopt the criticism of Roche concerning
the TAP. In light of the concession by counsel assisting thal a more realistic
asscssment of resources could not be proved to have produced a different outcome,
there appears o be no reason, apart [rom the atfribution of blame, for counsel
assisting to raisc these matters. The ACT submits it is not unrcasonable for the
ACTEB to rely upon the expertisc of the officers of the Bushfire Scrvice in relation to
the predicting of wildfires.  As is alrcady clear, the latier officers did not have an
appreciation of the magnitude of the possible impact.  Accordingly to expecet the
ACTEB to have independently arrived al such a conclusion and acled vpon it is

unreasonable.

6.87 3.45pm Media Release

682. Al paragraphs 1266 - 1270, counsel assisting submit that the distinction in
wording between the 3.45 media relcase of BSB and the 12 noon media releasc of the
NSW REFS is further evidence of the “implemeniation of the decision ... to conceal”
the true position [rom the ACT public. This criticism appears to be based on two
propositions — the first is that, compared with the contemporancous NSW RES media

release, certain pessimistic clements were omitted from the LSB document and
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sccondly that the wording has changed from residents being affected by “flving

embers™ 10 being allected by “ash and burnt material”.

683.  There is no evidenee as to what prompted the preparation and distribution of
the LS media relcase.  Furthermore, there is no cvidence as (o how the ESI3 obtained
the information contained in their media release - whether it was by formal or
informal means.  This may be relevant to how accurate the information that was
obtained was, and may cxplain differences in emphasis as to bow the perceived threat

was cxpressed.

684. It cannot be denied that the NSW RES media release made reference to
“completed containment lines” but that those lines would “he fested”. By comparison,
the ESI3 media release in question made relerence to the fire being within the
containment. lines and advised that “undue concern” was not warranted. Al T1695
Castle was asked why “those slightly more pessimistic aspects”™ of the NSW RIS
docement did not appear in the ESB media release and he stated that he presumed it
was nol communicated or not discussed. In [act, as a comparison of the documents
shows, only one pessimistic clement of the NSW RFES document was not included,
namely the reference to the lines being tested. 11 that statement was included i the
ESB release one might wonder how informative it would have been to the average

member of the public in Canberra.

685.  In any cvenl, it was not only a pessimistic comment which was Iell out of the
1:SB document since the NSWRES release also stated “there is no immediate threal to
any property”. If the intent of the T:SB officers composing their media release was 1o
downplay the risks there is no rcason why a similar reference was not included in their

3.45 pm medha release.

686, In refation to the change from “flying embers” (0 “ash and burnt material”, 1t
is debatable as to whether that change in words would have conveyed to the average

('anberra resident a different level of risk or threat.

687. Counsel assisting rely upon the Fire Brigade’s preparations [or a possible

impact on the urban area as cvidencing whal it meant to be “in the loop about the true
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state of knowledge ... This argument fails to have regard to the fact that the ACTFB
IAP was prepared in order to deal with the possible impacts of the fires as they
reached the wrban edge (the 6pm planning meeting, the fire was predicted to be
potentially near to the urban cdge no carlier than 2000 hours the next day). The
warning given in the ESB media rclcase appears to be dirceted (o events al any time
(rom the issue of the release onward and related (o a much less dramatic event
(airborne material coming in from the fires some distance o the west o urban

Canberra}.

688. ‘There is no good reason why downplaying the expected cvent from “flying
embers” to “ash and burnt material” would be done in any cvent. If in fact embers
were expecled, those persons impacted would soon become aware. 11 it is thought
thai, by describing the malterial as ash rather than ecmbers was to diffuse potential
panic of the public, or to engender conlidence that the fires were being contained or
controlled.  The arrival of airborne material from the fires could nol be prevented,
whatever the ESB chose 1o say and whether or not the fires were being successtully
containcd. 1t is submitled that the only feasible reason for adopting the words was for

the purpose of more usefully communicating what was expected.

689 AL T1691, Castle was asked what he was doing on the 17 January 2003 to
disseminate information to the Canberra community about the thrcal posed by the
fircs. His said “J suppose it goes back to we didn’t think there was an immediate
threat  So, in that respect I don’t think 1 was focussed on a specific immediafe
threar”. Yle was further pressed in relation to the absence of any warnings and he
stated “I don't think there was any conscious reason and with hindsight 1 wish I had”™
(T1692). Ttis clear from the media relcase that there was no reference made to the
adverse predicted weather conditions and consequent spotting distances. There 1s also
little doubt that ESB lost an opportunity on this occasion to disseminate rclevant

imformation to the public.

690.  The ACT submits that the conclusion that Castle intentionally determined not
to pass on the truc stale of affairs is not rcasonably possible. This is especially
confirmed by statements from him and Lucas-Smith in the course of radio intervicws

that afternoon.
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691.

692,

693.

AL 1500hrs, Lucas-Smith (DPP.DPP.0004.0010)

Inferviewer: Fxtreme weather conditions ... The hot and gusty northwesterly
winds have also arvived in Canberra, fanning two large fires in the
Namadgi National Park. ACT Fire Chicef, Peler Lucas-Smith says the
fires are still within containment lines, though that could change very
quickly.

Lucas-Smith: Under our current weather conditions, the chances of those
fires approaching owr containment lines in a rapid sort of a way
which may cause some spotiing and cross over Is a COncern 1o us,
particularly as the wind conditions and the lemperaiures rise 1his
afternoon, later today.

AL 1630hrs, Castle (DPP.DPP.0004.0008)

Interviewer: Fire fighters if the Namadgi National Park are scrambling to
contain the two major blazes, as weather conditions deteriorate, with
low humidity and strong northwest winds. ... Mike Casile from
Emergency Services says fierce conditions in the ACT probably won't
improve this weekend.

Castle:  Today will not be a good day fire-weather-wise, and the same
probably, for tomorrow, we fust .. if we can continue Lo pick up any
spot fires that do come over, with the water-hombing aircrafl, if
they're close to our containment lines, and within hose lengih, ihen,
we can put crews on i, bul if not, then it's back to thai sort of rugged
country again, and water-bombing, and then pull back outside those
containment lines o establish new containment lines

And in a news conferenee shortly thercafler at Spm (DPP.DPP.0004.0009)

Castle adverted to spolting:

Interviewer: Winds is causing concern for crews, who say the blazes could be
pushed across lines and flying embers may starl spot fires.  Mike
Castle, from Emergency Services says the Bendora five front has been
meeling with containment lines.

Castle:  With the Bendora fire, our containment lines along that sort of
easterly and southeasterly corner, the backburn had gone in and met
the fire front, it's just a case of how far il is likely (o spot, as opposcd
to a fire front, the fire front coming towards i, we had even cut some
trees down and done that sort of preparation, but il is the spolting
distance, fanned by the strong winds, that’s sort of the most concern.
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694. It is clear thai Clastle had told the interviewer prior to the question asked in this
extract of “flving embers that may start spot fires”. The fact that he did so and
confirmed the matier in his answer contradicts the serious asscrtions made by counsel
assisting concerning the decision o “conceal .. the frue posifion” ol the fires from

the ACT community.

695.  Evidence was adduced from Castle about the Spm interview on 17 January
2003 at 11711, The ACT notes that in the “accurate summary of all the evidence ...
of what actually occurred from 8 1o 18 January 20037 (patagraph 7 of submissions by
counsel assisting), there appears o be no reference made to any of the mterviews
above ot to Castle’s evidence about the Spm interview (sce sections 3.6.1.7 to 3.6.1.17
which appears to cover the relevant matters which occurred between about 1400 and

2050 on 17 January 2003}).

696.  There must be some doubt attaching to counscl assisting’s claims that their
summary of evidence is complete and accurate. Of concern is the fact that in what Is
undoubicdly a comprehensive coverage of the evidence by them, the matter which
was in the bricf and the subject of oral evidenee (and what might be thought (o be
exculpatory of any adverse inference against Castle) has neither been referred to 1n the
summary, nor is it referred to in the relevant section of the findings where scrious

criticisms arc made of that individual.

6.88 1 Fire Predictions

697.  Warnings can only be given in the coniext of predictions about futurc fire
behaviour, whether that behaviour be possible, probable or likely. We understand
counsel assisting to agree with that proposition. I hey have made submissions about
fire predictions made on 17 and 18 January 2003 for that reason, among others (see

paragraphs 1272 to 1277). We deal with each day in turn.

17 January 2003
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698. At paragraphs 823-828, counsel assisting summarise the manner in which
three members of the Planning Unit - Lhuede, Taylor and Gellic - carried out their
predictions of firc behaviour for the next day, 18 Janvary 2003. In particular, on the
morning of 17 January 2003, Lucas-Smith asked them to prepare “a map detailing

potential spol disiances today for all fires” (our emphasis) (ESB.AFP.0110.0868).

The task was to proceed by reference to unatiended (ire spread.  In our submission,
that amounted to Tucas-Smith sceking a view about the “worst case scenario”, to the

extent that a prediction could be made.

We aprce thal McRae was probably also involved in making that request.
g p Y £ q

699.  Lhuede, Taylor and Gellic worked together on the task and produced a map
identifying the potential for the [ires to reach Narrabundah L1ill by 2000 hours (8pm)

“us the last eastern most component of the vural land (o be affected.”(Lbucde T4946)

700.  In making their predictions, and producing their map, the planning officers
also took into account the “likely or forecast weather changes during the period”
(Taylor T4995). The three officers worked together on the task. Fach had
considerable and varied planning expericnee which they applied in making their
predictions and producing the map. FEach was aware that in certain conditions the
MecArthur meter may understate fire spread. At least onc of the planning officers
(Taylor) allowed for the note of caution arising from Project Vesta. However, it s
clear that the officers did not approach their task in any purely mathematical or
artificial way. Rather, they applied their knowledge about “fuel fypes, slopes and
likely forccast weather changes”. They also calibrated the model to suil the particular

ficld conditions. (See counsel assisting submissions at paragraphs 823 828)

701, In addition to the map, the olTicers also prepared a ‘message form” on which
Mr Lhuede set oul their estimated times at which the fire would reach certain points as
it progressed eastwards. 1hat form, like the map, did not identify any threat 1o the

urban edge ( ESB.ALIP.0110.0974).

702.  The afternoon planning meeting on 17 January 2003 was delayed for two

hours beyond the ordinary time of 4pm. Onc ol the reasons for doing so was to give
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the tiree planning officers time to finish their work so that their map and predictions

could be prescnted to the whole planning meeting.

703.  The map and the predictions, in terms of places where the fire was predicted to
reach and when, were presented 1o the meeting.  The predictions involved potential
firc spread into the rural arcas of the ACT, particularly in the Tidbinbilla Valley as a
result of the Bendora and Stockyard [ires.  As a result of those predictions, ESH
responded by taking various steps to warh persons living in rural arcas about the

potential fire danger. (counsel assisting submissions at paragraph 8461).

704.  Scveral matters become cvident as a result of the planning work done thal day

and later presented at the planning meeting,

705, Virstly, a major concern for Lucas-Smith, McRae and many others was to have
an understanding of potential expansion towards Canberra of all the fires. The whole
point of tasking Lhucde, Taylor and Gellic was to gain that undersianding.  Its
importance is demonstrated by he fact thai those three officers were, speaking
eenerally, the three most experienced planners in the Planning Unit (in addition {o

McRac) and yet all three of them were put on the onc job.

706.  Seccondly, the afiernoon planning mecting was delayed in order to allow the
situation officers to present their predictions to the entire meceling.  That step was
taken because Lucas-Smith, McRae and others appreciated that many people with
different inferests needed 1o be kept informed about potential fire spread.  In
particular, the information was not required only for operational purposes. 1ad that
been so, the information could have been provided in that context, cither belore or

after the planning meeling.

707, Thirdly, counscl assisting make no criticism of the work done by Lhuede,
Taylor and Gellic, and properly so.  As cvents turned out, their predictions were
significantly wrong as to place, time and intensily (or where, when and what).
Towever that arose because the fires behaved in a way thatl none of them anticipated.
No one at the later planning meeting queried their predictions, and indeed cveryone
aceepled them and acted accordingly.
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708.  Vourthly, there is no evidence to suggest that any of the large number of
persons mentioned below who attended the planning meeting voiced concerns about
whether warnings should be given to those living [urther on from where the firc was
predicted to rcach (i.e: whether urban edge residents ought be warned). ‘Those who
pave evidence supporting this include Castle F'1725, Harvey 14202, Wheatley 14196

and Prince 16457,

709.  Thosc present at the mecting included:

i.  Expericnced firelighters including [Lucas-Smith, Bartleit and Cooper
among others,

i, A senior officer from the AFP.

. A senior officer from NSWRI'S, namely Kevin Cooper
iv.  Several medial liaison personnel including Harvey, Lowe and Whealley.

v.  Senior government officers with “whole of government”™ inlerests to
consider including the Chiel Tixecutive of the Department of Justice and
Community Safety, lim Keady, to whom Castle answered

vi.  Ihe lire Commissioner, lan Bennett, who had operational responsibility in

the event that the fire reached the urban cdge.

710.  1In the lace of these facls, counsel assisting single out McRac from the group
(despite him not even having made the predictions) and submit that it “defies common
sense” for him not to have realised that the urban cdge was at risk (counsel assisting
submissions at paragraph 1274). In this context it is unfair that he alone should be
criticised for such a lack of prescicnce when the predictions were a result of work by

his tcam and were the subject of discussion and debate at the planning meeting.

711.  There is great difficulty in counsel assisting’s submission that McRae lacked
“common sense” in relation to his predictions of 17 January 2003 when those
predictions were the subject of debate amongst the wide group of atfendees at the
meeting and thosc attendees apparently raised no concerns. It is one thing to say that
an individual may have been distracted from the true position; if the position is thai a

larce number of pcople laboured under the same misapprchension, the likely
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construction is that in that context all thought the proposition was reasonable. In our

submission, your onour should reject that submission.

712, The submission is built entirely on hindsight. In our submission, the fatlure to
appreciate the possible outcomes is explained by the fact that subsequent events were

wholly outside the contemplation of experienced firefighters and ESB officials.

713.  The Territory agrees that, with hindsight, it would have been prudent o inform
residents on the urban edge about the risk identified during the cvening planning
meeting,  However, it did not happen because no one expected the residents 1o be
allected. This should be contrasted with the rural lessees, where a polential for them

to be allected was recognised and conscequent steps to warn them were taken.

714. At some time much later, and for the purposes of the Inguiry, Cheney says
“there is no point in being tervibly fancy about it .. the Planning Unif showld have
assumed a fire danger index of 80 ... and that extreme weather would occur after
1000 hours ... and that it was possible for the fire io reach the suburban area of 18

January between 1300 and 1100 hours” {T6879-6880)

715. It is accepied that Cheney’s views in this matter should be given weight,
Howcever, it is clear that Cheney made a number of assumptions in giving his view.
These related to the assumed fire danger index and the time that the extreme weather
would commence Lo affect fire behaviour. Lhese assumplions, of course, are matters
ol judgment upon which reasonable fire planners might difTer, particularly because 1t
would be unusual 1o base predictions on a fire danger rating different than the onc
predicted for the day in question.

716.  That such assumplions can prove to be inaccurate is supported by Cheney’s
conecession at 17148/9 that as the fires moved through the eaten out grasslands at 2pm
on 18 January 2003, they moved at a speed of three times thal which could be
expecled. Chency conceded that the fire spread through grasslands is unaticcled by

the Projeet Vesta adjustment.
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717.  Small variations in the underlying assumptions would no doubt affect the
altimate prediction. Cheney’s concession about the {ire spread through the grasslands
is a matler which casts further doubt upon the submission ol counsel assisting at
paragraph 1277 that the mam run of the Mclntyre's Tlut fire and the Bendora fire

“travelled more or less as would be expected”.

718, The ACT submits that the assumptions made by the fire planners at the ESB,
whilst proved 1o be incorrect by subsequent events, were nevertheless reasonable ones
upon which to basc the predictions they made, particularly given that they had not
experienced [ire behaviour of that type belore. It 1s difficult, even for the most
objective observers, to avoid being affected by a degree of hindsight when looking at

past evenls.

18 January 2003

719. At paragraphs 874-904, counscl assisting make submissions about the

predictions made on 18 Janumary for fire behaviour later that day.

720.  Various mectings happened early on 18 January, particutarly the 9.30am
morning planning meeting. 11 1s enough to say that by the fime of the planning
meeling, many people - particularly Gellie, McRae and Bartlett - were predicting that
the fires would rcach the urban edge at around 1800 hours (6pm) that day, and that
numerous other people became aware of their view either before or during the 9.30am
planning meeting.  Howcever, the prediction was very broad.  Fire was expected to
reach the urban edge somewhere between -Dunlop in the north and Greenway in the
south. Numerous suburbs were mentioned as being at risk along that entive western
cdec of Canberra. The threat also extended to the rural areas in Tidbinbilla Valley
south of the suburbs of Tuggceranong. The predictions were made in the conlext of
unattended fire spread as a worst case scenario and without the benefit of the thoughts
laicr expressed 1o one person by Taylor. (Bennett 11986; Taylor Statement, paragraph

38)

721.  Although those predictions were made, they were tempered by several matlers.

First the expectation was only for low level “fongues™ ol {ire or spot fircs burning
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through scant grasslands and dirt arcas. Sccondly, the firefighters were conlident that
the fire behaviour would be ameliorated once it was out of the forests and onto the
“eaten oud” grasslands that extended over approximately 2kms between the forests
and the urban cdge (counsel assisting’s submissions at paragraphs 879-880); Ferry

12579).

722, The ACT acknowledges that the IISB did not inform the public about these
predictions for a further two hours or so after the planning mecting concluded.  The
ACT and many of its cmployces acknowledge that with hindsight, warnings should
have been given more promptly, but the two hour delay must be understood in the

context of the perceptions about the likely fire impact as discussed above.

723, On the morning of 18 January 2003 Taylor stll held optimistic views as o
measures which could be taken to amcliorate the [(ire-run and its effects.  This
remained so, cven though he had made a new prediction that morning, which is

further relerred o below, He said at 15003

(2 You make the point in pavagrvaph 41 and this
has been subsequently amended:

"I don't think anvbody comprehended, or could
have comprehended, the rate at which the
Melntyre's Hut five jumped the Murrumbideee
River und came across the open ground between
the Murrumbidoee corridor and Stromlo orest.
This happened during the early afternoon.

The fire just seemed (o burn across bave
ground defying all the models.”

As it turned out, Mr Taylor, your prediction in
that message form was prelly accurate;, wasa't it?
A That was a prediction of unchecked fire
behaviour

() Yes, lappreciate that But in effect what
you predicted is what actually occurred?
A Yes

O Al the time that you wrolte this, or for that
matier on the previous evening, had you turned
your mind to the possibilities for the western
suburban edge of Canberra, particularly when you
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wrote this message form you are predicting an
impact on the urban interface from Hawker to
Weston Creck  Bul were you considering what the
effect of that impact might be?

A No. Inthe context that [ believed the fire
progress could be checked on the grassiands.

724, This is particularly significant because the views he held appeared to be
consistent with the views of scnior T'SB officers and other expericnced firelighters
concerning the likely speed of travel of the fire and the cffect of the grasslands and

eaten out paddocks on the firc behaviour.,

725. At the media conference al midday on 18 January 2003, Lucas-Smith spoke in
consistent terms aboul the threat to the urban edge when commenting on whal the
ESB expecied. He reminded the public of the steps they should take to prepare for a
bushfirc impact (DPP.DPP.0003.0493). e referred in particular to everyonce living on

the western edge of Canberra.

726. At paragraph 1276, counsel assisting refer to Taylor’s prediction on the
morning of 18 January 2003 about the time at which the Mclntyre’s Hut fire would
reach the suburbs, and note that it is consistent with the estimate Cheney “would
have” made, We submit that submission must be tempered by the matters referred to
above concerning the assumptions made by Cheney when he reported upon his likely

prediction, and also the matter referred to hereunder.

727.  Taylor made a different prediction, shared by others, the night before.  The
new prediction was arrived at aller the morning planning meeting.  There 15 no
cvidence regarding the passing of that prediction to anyone other than Graham
(T5000-5001). The time when he handed the memo to Graham (after he bad reviewed

the predictions following the planning meceling) 1s not know.

688 2 Warnings to the Urban Community
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728.  The Territory accepts counsel assisting’s submissions at paragraphs 1278 —
1280 that the ESIs approach on the night of 17 Janoary 2003 proved 1o be unduly
optimistic. laving regard to Castle’s evidence at 11723 to 1726, however, the ACT
submits that Castle had a genuine expectation that attempis could be made (o inhibil

the run of the fires.

729, In his cvidence Castle pomted (o the various matters that were apparcntly
occupying his thinking at the iime of these events - these included that he had “an
opiimistic view of the ability to suppress™; that he did not specifically know the extent
and the area which might be allected; that his “perspective and the focus might not
have been on the urgency” and that “the focus was on the rural”. On later reflection,
many of these rcasons do not withstand closer scrutiny., However, there is no cause to

doubt the veracity of this evidence or the genuineness ol his expectations at the ime.

730.  The ACT submits that it is appropriatc {0 make findings to the cffcet that
warnings should have been given at this time, but further (indings about responsibility
of individuals is not appropriate. Further there can be no findings that what occurred
was in the course of a willul decision o withhold important warnings from the
(‘anberra community - the extensive elforts to warn the rural community simply do

not bear that out.

6.8.9 20350 Media Release

731. At paragraphs 1281 — 1283, counsel assisting criticise the inadequacy of the
media release issued at 8:50pm on 17 January 2003, Fhe ACT accepts that this media
release did not forewarn the public about what was to occur, and with hindsight
should have been more forthcoming aboul the prospect of embers and spot fires in
urban Canberra. llowever consistently with the reasons cxpressed above, the ACT
submils that no finding should be made to the cffect that “the only plausible
explanation .. (for the (ailure to refer 1o the risk of embers and spot fires) is..
positive decision fo defer identifving the risk in those ferms”. The evidence suggests
that the issuc ol warnings was not discussed at the planning mecting that evening, nor
apparently did the issue arisc amongst those responsible for preparing the media
release, including Iarvey and Lowe.
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732.  The evidence of Towe (o the effcet that “there was a cerlain sensce of ifs not
going 1o be that bad” and a sense of lack of urgency at the mecting is more indicative
that those present lacked an appreciation of the risk. With respect to the urban arca,
that impression is conflirmed by the information in the media release about how the
public could find out aboul sporting cvents relocated (rom North Curtin Oval as a

result of fire fighting personncel relocating [rom Bulls 1ead, and about the expectation

ol significant smoke over the area.

733, On the other hand, the “current threat (o property in Tidbinbilla” was
deseribed as “serious™.  This dircetly contradicts the submitted “positive decision to

defer identifving " signilicant risks.

734.  Further, there can be no advantage for ESB officials to advise residents about
smoke problems over the urban area if they had an actual expectation that the
following day a signilicant firc impact was expected. The mislecading advice would be

exposed 1n a very short time.

735, Itis cerlainly not indicative of the implementation of a decision nol to warn, as
confended for by counsel assisting, Flad that been the case, one would have expected
ihat onc of the many persons present at the meeting or involved in the media release

to have disclosed that fact in evidence or otherwise.

736.  The ‘ring around” to rural residents referred to i paragraph 1284 also detracts
(rom the proposition that information was intentionally withheld. The ACT submits
that it is churlish of counsel assisting to dismiss such efforts for not mcluding some
residents and as being too late to be of practical assistance. lhe targeting of those
contacted and the timing of those contacts reflects the genuinely held views of the

scnior ESB officers about those who were thought to be at risk.
737.  With hindsight, on the evenming of the 17 January 2003, a more pessimistic

approach should have been taken and communicated but such oulcomes were nol

within the thinking of S13 officers at the time.
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738.  Your [onour should reject counsel assisting’s submission at paragraph 1287
that had residents been given a warning about the substantial risk of being affected by
(tre on 18 January they are likely to have adopted the “hest practice”™ responses set oul

in subparagraphs 1287(a)-(c).

739.  These hypotheses are unhelpful and speculative.  Tirst, the submissions
presuppose the content of a warning for events about which the ESB did not have a
clear appreciation. It is illogical to speculate about a course of action bascd on a

warning of cvents thal were never contemplated.

740.  Sccondly, cven if a warning had spoken about the possibility of grassfires
rcaching the urban cdge, or embers falling within the suburbs, it is questionable, at
least, that the public at large would have acted as suggested by counsel assisting.
Some people might have taken some of the steps proposed; some may have {aken
nonc of those steps and some might have taken many of them; many might not have
heard the warning. To speculate in (hat range 1s idle. At its highest, it could only be
said that residents may have acted in varying ways depending on all the facts and
circumstances perfaining to them and each of them. Cheney considered these

difficultics at 1557-558.
0.9 18 January 2003

741.  The ACT accepts that events on 18 Tanuary were chaolic, and that m large part
that arosc from a lack of preparation for, and a lack of warning about, the size and
magnitude of the fires which in fact impaciced on the urban edge. 1t appedrs that many
of those working at the ESB were overwhelmed by the situation. Your Honour should
reject the submission at paragraphs 1248 and 1290 that this circumstance arose as a
consequence of any deliberate decision by the ESB {o deler warnings to the public

about the nature of the risk they faced.

742.  The ACT accepts that the 1ESB should have provided a clear indication about

the possibility of the fire reaching the urban edge. The fact thal this was not donc
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may be duc 1o the various factors relating Lo stress and fatipue to which reference was

made at the commencement of this submission concerning warnings.

743, The meeting had been informed that the Melntyre™s Ttut fire had broken its
containment lines; nevertheless, experienced fire fighters retained some belief that the
fire could be contained in the grasslands. One such person was Neil Cooper who:

“.. still strongly believed that, once [the fire] came out of the

plantations or out of the timber, we would be able to contain it on the
grassland” (14780)

Thai was so, despite the prediction made at the Planning Mecting by a planning
olflicer, Mr Hilton Taylor (Cooper 14780), “that the Mclntyre’s Hut would impact on
Canberra by late that afiernoon”. (Cooper TI781, ESB.AFP.O110.0693)

744, As at 18 January, Locas-Smith’s view of what he expected to impact on the

urban cdge was described at '11205:

O Itis always difficult looking back to try and
see what your state of mind may have been af a
particular time. Bul to the extent that you had

in your mind that the Mclniyre Hul fire may reach
the urban edoe of Canberra, did the events
depicted in My Thornthwaite's, or the video iaken
at the time of My Thornthwaite's ember shower, and
matters of those sort, did those sorts of things
enler inlo your thinking as possible events af

that time on the 18th?

A No, certainly not fo that extent or to that
ferocity [ eertainly did not expect an impact on
the ACT inferface areas of that sort of ferocity

at all [ certainly expected that somewhere,

cither from the Bendora fire or Stockyard fire or
the Mcntyre fire, just for the sheer length of

the inferface theve - and in fact if you measured
around all the nooks and crannies and the full
interface from that corner from Warragamba Avenue
right down to the bottom of Gordon there is in
fact 72 kilometres of potential inferface of

the ACT - and I didn't know where impacts were
going to occur. 1 knew we would not be able (o
cover all of that with the resources we had  So
the potential for the Bendora five or

the Stockyard fire fo eventually creep through to
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the inferface, or the Mclntyre's Hut to eveniually
each the interface, that potential really existed

But where I didn't know and when. All we had was
the predictions we were able to make based on

the hest of our ability.

{(Although that view appcared to have changed by about 12 noon when Lucas-Smith
considered that the impact was likely Lo consist of a fire burning very [iercely through

the pines.)

745, MceRae stated at 13363 to 3364

A Thad no expectation that what happened on
Saturday the 18th of January would happen. It was
totally unexpected that the fires would all evolve
into plume driven fires and be driven by totally
different drivers to those we anticipated. My
expectation was that we would have to deal with a
rnumber of runs by fires, separale independent

runs, and that these would make approaches towards
the urban interface ot different times and

different places, and that the response crews

wounld have perhaps varying levels of success in
stopping them.

Traditional damage to the urban interface in
Canberra, as I said before, indicates the first

row of houses and mayhe another two rows of houses
back. There was nothing af all on my radar

screen, Lo use a figurative ferm, fo indicate the
impacts that did occur. In terms of the impacts

that we expected to occur, my belief is that my
decisions and the information given to me by

people working for me led to appropriate levels of
trigeer sefting for what we anficipated

746.  Bartlett, and members of NSW RFS, were well placed to recognise the
poleniial of the fires. As Counscl assisting state, “of all those participating [at the
meeting] (with the possible exception of Mr Lucas-Smith) [Mr Bartleit] had the
greatest expertise and most experience in the behaviour and suppression of large-
scale wildfires.” (paragraph 1292). Bartlett was at the morning planning mecting, He
expressed his views “about the potential for fires to burn lowards the edee of
Canberra during the day”. He recalled there was no “dissent from the views that [he

was| then expressing” and that, notwithstanding, there was “not any discussion about
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the means by which the Canberra community should be warned of this potential™-

Bartlett T6550-6556)

747.  DBartlett was in a helicopter most of the day on 18 January 2003 making
observations aboul the fire behaviour. Tle described himsell as “the eyes of FESB”
(Bartlett T6510). Hc agreed that at 2.39pm the fire was “within a couple of hundred
metres of the urban interfuce.” He gave the following evidence aboul events at that

{ime:

(. “This is the poini where you indicaie that the fire was developing
rapidly and heading towards the ACT Forest office?

A FYes.

Q. Was this the first fime you had concerns for your forestry office?

A Yes

(). Not long aficr that vour depot was destroved by fire?

A That’s correct.” (Bartllett TO066-6067)

[Ic had also been working with this [ire event for many days.

748.  Bartleit gave evidence that he first “had concerns” for the hceadquarters of
ACT Forests, of which he was the Direclor, approximaltely an hour before it was

destroyed by the [(ire.

749, Cooper also had a similar experience at 14799:

“I mean, right up wntil the fire was actually in Stromlo Pines I still
didn’'t think there was any — I really lic awake about that, I find it quite
embarrassing with the fire expericace 've goi.  And I know Tony
Bartleti, him and I have talked about this several times that we never
cven perceived it would burn our depot. I left my vehicle ai the depot
with my wallet and all the drivers licence and all the details”. (Cooper
14799)

750.  Similarly, NSWRES construcied its camp in the path of the Mclntyre’s Tt
fire, were it {o run towards Canberra under the influcnce ol north-westerly winds, and
later lost its camp. Indeed the evidence of the NSW personnel was that on 14 January,
“ . the location (of the Stromlo base camp) would not come under threal from the

fire” (Arthur T4630, Crawflord at T4518-9). It can be rcasonably presumed that NSW
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RIS did not appreciate its camp was af risk uniil it was too late to move it or any ilem
at the camp. The NSW contingent did not evacuate that camp until very shorlly belore
the fire struck. Turthermore, it was only on the night of 17 January, that NSW fire
fighters made contingency plans for the base camp having regard to the spread and

movemenl of the fire (Arthur 'T4630)

751.  In view ol the fact that this cross-section of persons did not foresee the speed
and ferocity of the fire, it 1s less surprising and more explicable that others al the TSI,
including the senior officials (with admittedly less expericnce than these firelighters),

also had a less scrious view of the level of tisk involved.

752, At least one explanation for the firefighters’ lack of appreciation ol the
poteniial impact was the speed of the fire runs. The Mclntyre™s Hut [ire crossed the
border into the ACT at onc location by about 7.30am. By 12 noon it was burning in
the timber behind Urlarra Station (a distance of about 2 to 3 km). By Ipm the firc had
made a run through Uriarra Sctilement (about 1.5km from the Station). This is a total
ol approximately 4.5km in 5.5 hours. By 2pm the firec was burning in the pine
plantations on Mt McDonald (a distance of about 4km from the Scltlement). In the
next hour it crossed the Murrumbidgee and burned through Stromlo Forest. reaching
the urban edge, a distance of about 8 km. Therelore, between 1pm and 3pm the fire
travelled a distance of 12km. As it transpired, even the fire spread in the morning of

the 18 January 2003 was not a reliable indicator as o what would occur after Tpm.

753. At paragraph 1296, counscl assisting make submissions about the media
release provided on 18 January 2003, The ACT accepts that the press release should
have becen relcased much earlier in the day, but this may be explained by the

substantial increase in activity at ESB owing (o operational demands.

754. At paragraph 1297, counsel assisting refer o Lucas-Smith’s press conference
on 18 January and submit that it “/ook him until midday to actually say that there has
always been a chance that the fire would reach the wban area” Counscl assisting
also submit that, still, he and Castle “didn't emphasise adequately enough the
potential visk” 1t is not truc to say that this was the first ime TLucas-Smith and others

had acknowledged the chance of the fire reaching the urban arca. Although on 13
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January 2003, Castle conveyed the notion that residents should nol be concerned, he
also acknowledged that the fires could present a significant impact in context of the
urban edge. The effect of such comments was to recognize the chance ol such an

impact and that submission should be rejected.

755, The ACI agrees with Lucas-Smith’s own asscssment of what he conveyed at
that media confercnce — namely that it did not emphasise adequately enough the
potential risk. However, it also contained indications about the relevant precautions
that persons adjacent to the grasslands on the western side of Canberra should take.
The ACT further submits that Fucas-Smith should be accepled when he stated that he

was nol intentionally secking (o withhold information [rom the Canberra community.

756. At paragraph 1299, counscl assisting submil that at midday on 18 January
2003, 1iSB personnel arc stll “continuing knowingly to withhold vital information
from the people of the ACT and Canberra”. That is quite wrong  the Mclntyre’s Tut
fire was stifl 13.5km away and had been moving af less than Tkm per hour, Although
some increase in fire spread might have been expected during the peak afternoon fire

danger period, the actual speed was beyond expectations.

757.  There was nothing willul in the faiturec by ESB offtcials o clearly state the
risk; none of the wilnesses asserted or conceded that thewr failure to warn was
mofivated by the wish to avoid panic as suggested in paragraph 1300, The most
reasonable inference is that these officers failed to anticipate the immediacy ol the

impact.

758.  1he ACT submits that it is no part of the proper cxercise of the Coromal
function for the Coroner to enterfain making findings in the mtempcratc lerms

contained in paragraph 1300.

759, In paragraphs 1301 and 1304 counsel assisting seem Lo suggest that the SEWS
or any meaningful wamings were first commenced to be broadcast between 2.25pm
and 2.45pm. The cvidence suggests that the conclusion is not accurate - indeed it

appears from document DPP.DPP.0006.0037 that the emergency fire precantions

nessage was being broadeast shortly after 1pm. That carlier dissemination may have
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been prompted by the release of information at the 12 noon press conference and

through the 12 midday and 1 pm media relcases.

760. Al paragraph 1302, counsel assisting criticise the (act that, as part of the
SEWS message, residents were advised (o return to their homes — and in some cases
those homes were alrcady on fire. The ACT submiis that in a dynamic situation of
fircs burning across a wide arca, and the method ol broadcasting is by radio broadcast,
it 1s simply unavoidable that a single message is capable of having 1ts correct and
intended application in cases of this kind.  This 1s simply a product of the fast
changing and dynamic circumstances of such a disastrous event. No complaint can be
made aboul the appropriatencss of that advice in most cases as it complies with the
ATFAC guidelines in this regard. There was no reason to think that a warning other
than on¢ which complicd with the AFFAC guidelines would be appropriate until after

the fires were well into the suburbs.

761.  The ACT submits that there is no basis to make the findings againsi LLucas-
Smith contained in paragraph 1305, even if the terms of the finding are considered to
be comprehensible (whal is “a product of a completely misguided unwillingness .. 1o
be frank with the people of Canberra?”). There has been previous relerence o the
matters which influenced Lucas Smith’s thinking about warnings in the days [eading
up to 18 January 2003 and, as has been submitied, there is no reason o disbelieve that
cvidence.  Furthermore, the ACT submits thal it is unhelpful and improper (o urge

findings against Castle and McRac couched in the terms scleeted by counsel assisting

762.  Regarding the suggested findings at paragraph 1307, for the reasons expressed
above, your Honour should not make the finding in sub-paragraph (a). It is simply
contrary to the evidence given by cach of these officers. Further, the ACL submits
that the finding urged in sub-paragraph (¢) is not in accord with the various
demonstrated provisions of community information and warnings evidenced before

this Inquiry.

763.  Ihe ACT submits that there is no evidence that Lucas-Smith and McRae made
a decision ogether or independently thal warnings would not be given.  As has been

submitted on earlier occasions, the proper characterisation is that these officers acted
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upon their honest belief as o the level of risk which was then evident to them.
Accordingly, to cast the finding as a considered decision not Lo issue warnings
misrepresents the process — the proper construction being that the process is triggered

by recognition of a particular level of risk.
764, The ACT makes the same submission in relation to Castle.

765.  The ACT lurther submits that the findings proposed in sub-paragraphs (g) and
(h), as to contribution to and causation of the specified events, cannol be made

utilising the applicable legal Lests relating to the issue of causation referred to above.
6.10 Lxpert evidence on warnings

766. At paragraph 1309 - 1311, counsel assisting submit that the evidence indicates
that pre-scason communily awarcness of what to do in preparation for a bushfire was
low. Esscmiallyﬂ that view 1s based upon the evidence of a sc_lected number of
residents and the opinion of Roche concerning that evidence. Roche’s evidence 1n
this regard does not appear to be based upon any significant analysis of the surveys
which were conducted. I also appears that he drew his conclusions based upon the
proposilion that, because so many houses were damaged or bunt, one could thercfore
infer a lack of awareness. As has been adverted to earlier, this does not follow as a
maller of logic, it not taking into account the fact that this fire cvent was one of great
extremes. [Furthermore, both Roche and counsel assisting summarily dismiss the
analysis of the survey conducted by Watson, the sample group being comprised
entirely of persons who suffered loss or damage. 86% of thosc persons indicated a

level of awarencss as to what should be done in the event of a bushiire.

767.  Uhe ACT submils that communily awareness activities undertaken by 1SDB in
the period prior to the 2003 ﬁrﬁ;s was reasonable given the size of the jurisdiction,
Considerable ¢lforts were made to raise the level of community awarencss through
various publications provided over the years, and particularly during 2002
(ESB.GSO.0005.0812). It is wrong of counsel assisting to submit that from 1994 there

was “no further lareeted campaign for its distribution” - which we take to rcfer (o the
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“Will You Survive” booklet. It was reprinted in 1997 and the “index” table provided as
part document ESB.GSO.0005.0812 shows a steady stream ol publications about

bushfire awareness, particularly during 2002.

6.11 Warnings and the deaths

768. At paragraphs 1323-1325, counsel assisting makes submissions about a
possible causal link between the lack of warnings and the death of Mrs Tener and Ms
McGraih. Counsel assisting reviewed the evidence with obvious care, in the light of
the scrious nature ol the issue and concluded that the evidence, as led, would not

permit a finding of that kind to be made.

769.  In paragraph 1325, counsel assisting state in relation to the death of Alison

Tener that:

A finding that the lack of adequate warning was a cause of these deaths is a
serions finding .. and we do not consider that at this stage, the evidence
would permit that finding (o be made. ™

The submissions were prepared over a congiderable period of time having repard o
the available evidence. The issuc of causation was of central importance i the
submissions, and to a number of the partics atfected by the proposed finding.
Presumably, counsel assisting proffered the opinion after carelul consideration. The

ACT accepts the correctness of this submission.

770.  In their letter of 23 May 2006, counsel assisting now urge your Honour 1o find
a number of propositions, some based upon cvidence before the Inquest (albeil there
was no evidence direct or indirect of what Mrs Tener intended to do on 18 January)
and others on mere speculation as to Mrs Tener’s mental processes and infentions.
I'he speculative element of the process is more marked when the ultimate submission
is based not on what Mrs lener’s intentions were but on what they would have been,

if certain warnings had been given.
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771.  In the absence of some explanation [or if, the reversal ol the initial opinion
calls into question the reliability of counsel assisting’s submissions, and tends to
sugecst that the motive for the latest proposed [inding 1s to justify a pre-delermined

conclusion in regard to causation. It gives cvery appearance of counsel assisting

strugeling (o attribute blame to senior SB personnel,
772, Inregard to Mrs Eener’s death, counsel assisting urge six speeific findings.

773, In relation to the first proposed finding, the ACT submits that yvour Honour
would fall info ¢rror in making such a finding for the lollowing reasons. The finding
is said to be based on the evidence of Amanda Taylor, and she gives no indication ol
what time she spoke o Mrs Tencr, Accordingly there 1s no basis on this evidence, {o
make a finding concerning Mrs lener’s state of mind at all about the issue of

evacualion, let alone what it was at aboul 2.00pm.

774, The only evidence given by Taylor of relevant times she h.ad contact with Mrs
Tener on 18 January was at Q.44 of TROC (AMT.AFP.0097.0149). She there stated
that about 1.15pm-1.30pm - “that would be a real approximation” - she had a
telephone conversation with her husband about the fires. Taylor did not indicate any
time in Q.72, where she said that she was preparing (o leave and saw Mrs Tener. The
latter stated that she was “a lifile frighiened”, but said nothing more about what she
intended to do (Q.82). Taylor made the observation that Mrs Tener was not panicked
(Q.83). Tt 1s to be noted that this evidence 1s silent on what Mrs Tener’s thoughts were

about whether (o stay or go.

775, Two other elderly neighbours supplied statements about their contact with Mrs
['ener that day. In his TROC (AMT.AEP.0097.0128), David Craven said that he asked
his wifc to check with Mrs Tener to see 1f she wanted help (Q.51-54), however, he
was not surc about the time and he “would say .. geiting up towards 2 o’'clock,
guarier (o 2 mavhe”. 1e stated that when his wile returned after 5 tol0 minutes, she

said:

“Alison’s OK ... she’s not panicked or anything She’s concerned like
everybody is. But she says she'’s OK and she’s getting some things together,
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photos and some other things .. just in case there's any need to lake them out
of the house .. 7 (Q57).

776.  Helen Craven in her TROC (AMT.ATP.0097.0120) stated she last saw Mrs
Tener in the “mid morning”™ “al home” - 29 and 30. Further she stated at Q.57 that
Mrs Tener .. started Tooking through a [ew photos ...”; “she was sorting through
some ol the photos”. “She did not tell me why or anything ... Maybe she was getting
ready (o pul them in an album™ - Q92. These witnesses gave inconsisient evidence
about the time Ms Craven spoke (o Mrs Tener (Mr Craven’s evidence was itself an
approximation) and about the content of the conversation in relation to the

photographs. The only common feature being that Mrs Tener was looking at

photographs.

777. 1t is submitted that there is no sure basis on which to draw conclusions as to
when Mrs Tener placed the personal items in the boot of the car. 1t 15 the proximily
between the time the fires impacted and the time the items were placed in her car that
may suggest that Mrslener was considering evacuation. I the evidence does not
permit a lemporal connection between those events, and it is submitled 11 does not,
then no rcliable conclusions can be drawn about whether Mrs Tener considered

evacuation or not at that time.

778.  As lo the second and third findings, apart from cvidence thal the STEWS was
authorized at 14.05 and a reference in Mcl.cod report that the ABC radio received
notification of the SEWS at 2.31pm, Lhere 1s no evidence as to when the SEWS
commenced 10 be broadcast. Indeed, the person responsible for its dissemination

Marika Harvey - thought the first SEWS went out was between 1 and 2 pm —
paragraph 45 of her statement. Accordingly there is no cvidence of when Mrs Tener
became aware of the STWS. if she did at all, and of whether that was the source of her
information concerning filling the bath tub with water. Consequently, the claims that
Mrs Tener obeyed “that advice” and “abandoned any plans to leave her home™ arc

unrcliable and the ACT submits no findings in those terms can be made.

779 The fact that Mrs Tener was Tound in the bathtub is of itsetl not conclusive of

the {act that she obtained information [rom the SEWS. The Fire Brigade officer who
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found Mrs Tcner body suggests that people under threat often seek refuge in the

bathroom and this 1s a recognised phenomenon. Stevens stated:

“Duc 1o previous experience being a rescue operator | ascertained that the
mosi likely spot was the bathroom as ihat is where people scem to flee in these
conditions.” (Q.9 TROC - AMT.AKP.0097.0097)

780.  The ACT submits that the proposed [inding that Mrs Tener “would have
temporarily relocated well before the issue of the SEWS at approximately 2 30pm™ s

entircly speculative.

781, ‘lhe advice in the SEWS concerning the filling of the bathtub is not as
comprchensive as it might have been. However, (he message was designed for
broadcast to the public in times of emergency. As such it should convey important
advice when a fire approaches. Accordingly, it needs o be succinet and capable of
readily being understood, retained and applied. A morc comprchensive message may
not be so effectively retained by a reasonable Listener of the broadcast. The message
suggested the filling of receplacles - bathtubs, buckets cte - and the ACT submits that
a reasonable member of the public would understand such direction 1o be directed to a

means of collecting water lo extinguish fires.

782.  Ihe cvidence before the Inquiry indicales that the SEWS message was not
broadcast in an identical manner by all media outlets. Tor example, in a SEWS
broadcast on 666 radio after 2pm (DPP.DPP.0006.0025) the announcer gave the
following relevant explanation of what should be done when a fire approaches the

housc:

“Indoor if the fire approaches your house close all the doors and windows, fill
the bathtub, any buckets efe, soak towels to place in creaves’ such as under
the door, if vou have time and can do it take down the curiains and push
Jurniture away from the window. That means if vour windows are shaitered
by debris yowr curtains will not catch on fire because there not there to do so,
that’s why you need lots of water buckets it’s the littlle fires that hurn down
houses.”

783. [t may be obscrved that in this broadcast there was an explanation for the use

to bc made of the water being collected in receptacles, which would reasonably
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mchude the bathtub, Fhe construction of the radio announcer tends to indicate that the
message was understood by that person in the manner that it was intended to be. I
Mrs Tener heard one of the SI'WS broadcasts, there is no basis on which to exclude
the proposition that it was the abovementioned broadeast.  Accordingly, no firm
conclusions can be drawn as (o the circumstances in which she came to be in the
bathiub. I indced, Mrs Tener heard the SEWS and acted upon it in the way suggesied

by counsel assisting, tragically she appears to have misunderstood its purpose.

784.  There is no direct evidence of what Mrs Tener proposed to do, so far as
evacuation is concerned. ‘There was no evidence from her husband who last saw his
wile on 4 or 5 Tanuary (85, TROC AMT.AEFP.0097.0100) nor from her neighbours
about her intentions. The evidence indicates that one other person (Taylor) did decide
to cvacuate and did so to Mrs Tener’s knowledge - - 1f Mrs Tener intended to evacuate,
that was the time that she would have elected (o go. The most likely inlerence was
that at that time, she was prepared to stay. An inference 18 cqually open that cven if a
warning ol the kind which went out on 20 January was issued, Mrs Tener may well

have stayed.

785.  In summary then, there 1s no evidence in any conversation Mrs Tcener had with
any withess of her intentions about cvacuation. 1t may be inferred (hat Mrs Tener
placed the personal ilems placed in boot of the car, but when that occurred 15 not
disclosed in the evidence. Accordingly there is no evidence about Mrs Tener’s state of

mind concerning the 1ssue ol evacuation.

786.  There s also no evidence about when and il Mrs Tener became aware of
SEWS and even it 1t 15 assumed that she did, that does not determine whether she
intended (o cvacuate. It is equally open (o infer that by her acts of filling the bath tub,
she intended to stay. Therefore it is entircly speculative to conclude what Mrs Tencer
would have donc if a different warning was given. It follows that the causative link
between the absence ol warmings and the late issue ol the SIE'WS cannol be

cstablished.
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SUBMISSION ON RECOMMENDATIONS

787.  Counscl assisting has made some Submissions in Response Lo the stalement of
Mr Peter Dunn, the then Commissioner for ACT Emcregency Services Authority,
dated 18 November 2005, As that statement notes, at paragraph 2, the purpose was (0
assist your TTonour in relation to recommendations you might wish to make and
informing you of the changes that have occurred subsequent to the fire, regarding the

delivery of emergency serviees inthe ACT.

788.  Counscl assisting consider the reforms a welcome and appropriale response

“on the whole™,

789,  1n a number of arcas, counscl assisting offer comments about the adequacy
and viability ol the further changes. At paragraph 7, reference is made to the evidence
ol Koperberg (who did not give evidence on this issue) and doubis are expressed
about whether a small jurisdiction like the ACT, can sustain “four separately

conslituled emergeney serviees™.

790, So far as we arc aware there was no evidence expert or otherwise, about these
mallers. Any recommcendation arrived at without a comprehensive consideration ol
the views of those affected and all the relevant [actors meluding the costs of such
arrangements, 1s likely to be of limited value. Such matters would of course be oulside
the scope ol any legitimate inquiry of the Coroner. Nevertheless, the ACE will give

the comment appropriate consideration.

791, At paragraph 8, counsel assisting point to the risk of inclficiencies in the use
and allocation of resources i,.hrough duplication and conflicts over jurisdiction
between the [ire services at the BAZ. Such concerns are theorctical, sinee it is highly
unlikely that both services in attendance at a fire, would contest the issue of
Jurisdiction rather than {ight the fire. The most likely scenario is that there would be

significant liaison and co-operation (as indicated in the ESA Guidelines relating {o
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Response Arrangements in the BAY, ¢4 and 5), reinforced by the retention of the

scrvices as part ol an infegrated single authority.

792, The anticipated probiems referred to in paragraph 9 relating to unificd control
arrangements between ACT and NSW authoritics in relation (o a fire outside the
BAZ, but which conslitule a substantial threat o assets in the BAZ, arc likely to occur
only infrequently. The co-operative arrangements between NSW and ACT will
remedy such problems in practice, as they did in the January 2003 fircs, when the

Bendora fire crossed the border into NSW on 12 January 2003.

793, The suggestion at paragraph 9, that the full merging of the two fire services is
desirable 1s a statement of agpiration, but fails to take info account or understand the
numerous jurisdictional and other mmpediments involved such a merger. Absent a

proper consideration ol those matfers, any such recommendation should be resisted.

794, Regarding counsel assistings™ suggestion in paragraph 10 that the Coroner
should comment on the delay in the completion of SBMP Version 2, the ACT refers
to paragraph 30 of Dunn’s statement indicates the SBMP was prepared by
representatives of the interested parties and finalised and approved in carly 2005. The
ACT agrees that it is desirabic to introduce Version 2 but the format and timing for
that step is a policy matter and dependent upon completion of various projects under

the existing SBMP.

795, As the ACT has submitted elsewhere m this submission, significant decisions
regarding the 1ssue ol fucl management (addressed at paragraphs 17 to 22 of counsel
assisting’s submissions) should not be made without the benefit of the [ull range of
views as lo whal regime best suits the interests of all interested parties. The Coroner
should not make the suggested recommendations because they rely entirely on those

in favour of farge scale hazard reduction across almost all land tenures.

796, Indeed, Cheney was questioned about other types of hazard reduction regimes
apart from broad scale hazard reduction at 17054-6. He was referred to the Western
Australian scheme ol strategic plan prescribed burning and acknowledged that the

various lactors underpinning the WA scheme (sce 17055) were sensible malters
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which should be {aken into account. It is not suggesied thai Cheney agreed with the
approach: but the point is that his approach is not the only rcasonable approach and
there are other legitimate factors which muost be considered to arrive at a balanced

conclusion on which scheme s appropriate.

797, Al paragraphs 23-26, counsel assisting urge findings that the respongibility for
mitial response to all fires on their land, should be with the relevant land management
agency. This submission has been addressed carlier in the Land Management lssucs
Scction. In summary, the ACT submits that in a jurisdiction of the size of the ACT, it
1s neither practical nor sensible to by-pass fire fighters located nearer to the fire in
order that the land manager responds first. In any event, the present system (and that
which obtained in Janwvary 2003) is that the land managers were responded at the
outsct and had command and control at the (ire ground - in substance the same resull

was achieved.

798. At paragraph 31 and 32, counsel assisting arguc that the Coroner should make
recommendations relating to the appointment of personnel to IMT roles in level 2 and
level 3 wildhires. Under the Emergencies Act 2004, the ACT has put in place the
Limergency Services Authority. The senior personnel ol the Authority were sclected
for thetr skill, experience and capabilitics. [he ACT submits that there should be no
such recommendations which impinge upon the ability of such senior officers to carry

out their functions and impinge upon their judgment calls i dynamic situations.

799. At paragraphs 33 and 34, counscl assisting submit that recommendations
should be made about the importance of funding community awareness programs and
“personalising the message” to community members. The ACT has shown a clear
commitment to carrying out the Mcl.cod recommendations (including those relating
lo community cducation and warnings) and it inlends to continue with that
commitment. TFurther, it 1s submitted that the proposal by counsel assisting that the
Coroner remind the ACT of “the responsibility of current and future governments of
the ACIT” about these matters is unnecessary, beyond jurisdiction and any

recommendation in those terms should be rejected.
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800.  In relation 1o the Memorandum of Understanding between the ESA and the
NSW Department of Environment and Conservation (paragraphs 35-38), the ACT
submits that the analysis of counsel assisting as if the Memorandum were a statute
rather than a working document designed 1o encompass a cooperative relationship, is
unhelpful. The suggestion ol the implementation of “joinf operational arrangements”
between NSW and AC T authoritics where it 1s probable that a fire will affect the other
Jurisdiction, in practice may not involve a situation greatly different from that which

occurred 1n 2003,

801, the ACT has fewer personnel than does NSW and accordingly, in a large fire
cvent, those personnel will most likely be primarily involved in the fire suppression
effort m the ACT. 1If ACT personnel were to be involved in jont arrangements, they
would not be available [or the ACT suppression elforts. This would not be a
productive result. In circumstances where NSW authoritics have undertaken the
suppression  activities 11 NSW,  provided there are eflective avenucs  for
communication and liaison between the jurisdictions, the ACT submits that this would

yield the best results in those cireumstances.

802.  The suggesiion ol joint arrangements is not the panacea that it might scem. For
example, an inferesting question would arise if there were disagreement as 1o what
should be done between the authorities under such joint arrangements. It serves (o
underline that whatever the formal arrangements, absent the will to co-operaic, no

system will function properly.

803, A number of specific recommendations are urged in relation to various matiers
including the desirability ol a single MOU between the TLSA and NSW authoritics
(paragraph 38); the conduct of “an annual qualitative risk analysis of conditions™
prior to each (ire season (paragraph 40) and a “wholesale review” of the reforms in the

Dunn statement (paragraph 43).
804. By establishing the ESA and staffing 1t with skilled and professional officers,

the ACH intended to cnsure that emergency services (and in this case, f{irefighting

services) were provided efficiently and by skilled persons. It was recognised that the
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provision ot such scrvices in varied conditions required the excrcise of judgment by

such persons.

805, Whilst recommendations of a general nature can be helpful in identifying
maiters [or improvement and suggesting solutions, gencrally, these more specilic
recommendations could have the elfect of removing or impeding the necessary

element of judgment and skill of the senior personnel.

806. The ACI submits that it is necither appropriale nor necessary  for
recommendations to be made which have the effect of micro-managing the skilled

senior personnel in carrying oul their many dutics.
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